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First Ship Lease Trust (“FSL Trust” or the “Trust”) is a Singapore-based business 
trust that provides long-term lease fi nancing across major shipping sub-sectors. The 
vessels owned by FSL Trust are leased on long-term fi xed-rate bareboat charters and 
short-term time charters.  

FSL Trust presently owns a diversifi ed portfolio of 23 modern and high quality ocean-
going vessels comprising containerships and a variety of tankers. Of these, 16 vessels 
are leased to international shipping companies on long-term bareboat charter basis. 
The remaining seven vessels are employed on short-term time charters, in a pool or 
in a revenue sharing agreement. 

The majority of the Trust’s revenue is derived from the rentals received from fi xed-
rate bareboat charters. The fi xed-rate charters provide the Trust with stable and 
predictable long-term revenue and cash fl ow. The vessels employed on market-rate 
related charters expose the Trust to upturn opportunities when the shipping industry 
recovers. 

FSL Trust is managed by FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. (“FSLTM”), the Trustee-
Manager. The Trustee-Manager is responsible for safeguarding the interests of 
unitholders and for FSL Trust’s investment and fi nancing strategies, asset acquisition 
and disposal policies, and the overall management of FSL Trust’s portfolio. The 
Trustee-Manager aims to optimise the returns on its vessel portfolio, manage the 
various risks and opportunities of the Trust and improve cash fl ow generation for 
unitholders of the Trust. 

FSL Trust is listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (SGX-ST) and its American Depository Receipts (ADR) are quoted on the 
PrimeQX tier of International OTCQX. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

SPONSOR
FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

UNITHOLDERS

Special Purpose 
Companies (SPCs)
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Lessees

FSL Asset 
Management Pte. Ltd.

TRUSTEE-
MANAGER 

FSL Trust Management 
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Management 
Services

1. Acts on 
behalf of 
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2. Management 
& Trustee 
Services

Ownership

Ownership

Lease 
Income

Management 
Fees

Lease

Holdings of units
Public/Investors - 76%

Sponsor - 24%

Singapore 
Tax Exempt 
Distributions

Repayments on any 
shareholder’s loan, 
dividends, and share 
buy backs

Management 
Services Fees

100%

100%

Trustee and 
Incentive Fees
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A FRESH
APPROACH 
Addressing long-standing issues 
and re-positioning the Trust
We are focused on ensuring the business is well 
positioned for future growth. 
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Dear Unitholders,

2013 was a challenging year for FSL Trust, but one from which 
we have emerged galvanised and ready to face the future. It 
has been a period of signifi cant change at the Trust; only one of 
fi ve directors who started the year on the Board of the Trustee-
Manager is still in offi ce, the senior management of the Trustee-
Manager has been replaced and the Trust recently agreed to sell 
two vessels. This sale, which was completed in 2014, resulted 
in the Trust exiting the dry bulk market for the time being. 

The wider shipping market may view 2013 as something of 
a watershed year. Commentators and brokers now generally 
agree that vessel valuations and freight rates have reached 
the bottom and signs of recovery are beginning to be seen. 
Debt and equity capital markets, particularly in Oslo and New 
York, have been active and investment has fl owed into shipping 
markets from private sources. However, with much of this ‘new 
money’ being deployed in new-building programmes, concerns 
remain about the future balance of demand and supply in the 
global marine transportation market.

The Trust reported full year 2013 revenues of US$90.0 million, 
15.2 per cent lower than the previous year. Net cash generated 
from operations declined by 24.0 per cent to US$36.4 million 
and the net loss for the year was US$65.2 million, primarily 
driven by a well-considered impairment charge of US$43.4 
million against the net book values (NBVs) of some of the 
vessels in the Trust’s portfolio. The Board perceived a need to 
refi ne its impairment policy and introduce a more consistent 
and prudent approach to deriving the value-in-use valuations 
of redelivered vessels. We are now confi dent that the balance 
sheet of the Trust is, as a result, more realistic and credible.

The majority of our vessels remain on original bareboat charters, 
but 2014 will see the natural redelivery of some tonnage at 
the end of the term of some leases. Signifi cant management 
effort is being directed to ensure that redelivered vessels are 

LETTER TO 
UNITHOLDERS

Tim Reid
Chairman

Alan Hatton
Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Offi cer

The Board is confi dent that with 

the new senior management 

team in place, the Trust is now 

well positioned to formulate and 

execute new strategies in 2014 

and deliver unitholder value.

redeployed optimally and sustainably, in the best interests 
of the unitholders of the Trust. With the benefi t of the steady 
income stream provided by the remaining bareboat charters, 
the improvement in tanker market conditions, the timely sale of 
the dry bulk vessels (to avoid costly third special surveys in Q1 
2014) and the successful negotiation of a covenant relaxation 
effective through to the end of 2014, we are confi dent that the 
Trust can meet its fi nancial commitments and stay within the 
parameters set in the recent covenant relaxation during 2014. 

Following all the changes that have occurred, the Board 
believes that the unitholders are due a further summary of key 
events that occurred in 2013.

2013: A Year of Change
It was a tumultuous year for the Trust. This is refl ected in the 
signifi cant organisational changes, the protracted negotiations 
with our Lenders and the resultant trading suspensions of the 
units between July and into 2014. However, we are moving 
forward into 2014 in stronger stead.

In light of the previous performance of the Trust, there were 
signifi cant concerns at the Sponsor (FSL Holdings) level and this 
resulted in Tim Reid being appointed as a director of FSL Holdings. 
This appointment was made with the support of the major creditor 
of that company. There was further disquiet from the Sponsor 
when the Trust announced on 10 June 2013 that it had reached an 
agreement with its Lenders on a covenant relaxation extension until 
the end of 2013. However, no formal approval from the Board was 
obtained or documented beforehand and certain terms recorded 
in the announcement, were far from acceptable. The key issue was 
that the covenant relaxation could be terminated by the Lenders 
if two or more independent directors, the Chief Executive Offi cer, 
the Chief Financial Offi cer, or the Chief Risk Offi cer resigned or 
were replaced on an involuntary basis. Concerns over the terms 
of the covenant relaxation extension resulted in the decision being 
made to appoint Tim Reid as a director of the Trustee-Manager 
and subsequent further appointments to the Board. A signifi cant 

76
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change in the composition of the Board ensued with four previous 
directors, including the Chief Executive Offi cer and the Chief 
Financial Offi cer departing. This was announced on 4 July 2013. 
The Board fi rmly believes that the position and actions taken were 
in the best interests of the unitholders of the Trust.

This organisational change caused some unrest with the 
Lenders and time was needed to seek clarity from them. As 
such, the Board took the step of placing a trading halt on the 
units on 30 June 2013, followed by a trading suspension on 4 
July 2013. The lifting of the suspension of trading on the units 
took place on 1 August 2013.

During this period, the business operations became stressed 
as the restructured OMNI bareboat charter arrangement was 
not operating as intended. The vessels on bareboat charter to 
Geden were redelivered in July as a result of default by that 
charterer and the vessels leased to OMNI were redelivered in 
September. The failure of these leases had a signifi cant impact 
on the operating cash generation of the Trust in 2013. The 
reality was that both counterparties had been delinquent in 
their contractual obligations for some time prior to the default 
and subsequent redelivery of the vessels.

In late August, Alan Hatton, a new Chief Executive Offi cer joined 
the Trustee-Manager. At this time the Trust’s organisation was 
still very much in a state of fl ux. The Chief Risk Offi cer, Chief 
Commercial Offi cer, Company Secretary and Legal Counsel 
resigned. To refl ect the changing nature of our business from 
lessor to owner and operator of tonnage, additional operational 
and commercial shipping expertise was required. Accordingly 
the Board appointed Roger Woods as Chief Operating Offi cer. 

The new senior management team focused on several key 
issues in 2013, including:

• Negotiating with the Lenders for a further covenant 
relaxation that was fi nally agreed at the end of February 
2014. The protracted discussions with the Lenders led 
directly to the second unit trading halt and suspension in 
November 2013. While the Board and Management were 
regularly not in agreement with the positions taken by the 
Lenders, they are grateful that agreement was eventually 
reached, and appreciate the continued support the Lenders 
have shown to the Trust and its unitholders; 

• Managing the redelivery of the OMNI vessels and ensuring 
upgrading works were done to minimise risk and off-hire 
and eventually negotiating their sale (executed in March 
2014), in part driven by the imminent capital expenditure 
required;

• Resolving approval, speed and consumption issues on the 
chemical tankers to improve performance in the pool; and

• Optimising performance of the ex-Geden aframax vessels 
and entering the FSL Hong Kong into the Teekay Revenue 
Sharing Agreement.

The new senior management team have taken a hands-on 
approach to managing third-party commercial and technical 
managers to improve the condition and performance of the 
Trust’s assets.

There have also been other developments worth noting. Tim 
Reid was elected by the Board as Chairman of the Board. 
Simon Davidson was also elected as Deputy Chairman 
and Lead Independent Director. The Investment Advisory 
Committee has been disbanded. The Trustee-Manager waived 
the fee it was normally due from the Trust in relation to the 
divestment of the dry bulk vessels in March 2014 and the 
directors have also agreed to reduce their annual fees by 10 
per cent in 2014 to reduce the fi nancial burden on the Trust. 
The Board unanimously considered these steps worth taking 
to support the Trust.

2014: The Year Ahead
The Board is confi dent that with the new senior management 
team in place, together with further appointments to be made 
shortly, the Trust is now well positioned to formulate and 
execute new strategies in 2014 and deliver unitholder value. 

The new senior management team have the necessary 
experience, skills and determination to secure a signifi cantly 
sounder future for the Trust. The mix of commercial and 
operational shipping experience, fi nance and business acumen, 
and access to an extensive network in the global marine 
transportation industry will continue to be used to improve the 
performance of the Trust while also ensuring that the fl eet is 
managed safely and responsibly.

While the Trust continues to face the risk of further defaults, 
there is far less likelihood of default from the strong remaining 
bareboat charter counterparties and we thank them for their 
continued support and performance over the past year and 
going forward.

The Trust will also see some of its older contracts mature 
and tonnage is also likely to have to be redeployed. Recent 
market trends show that the feeder containership market has 
been broadly weak but stable and that there has been general 
improvement across tanker markets in 2013 and into 2014. 
Given this, the Board believes that the Trust has been better 
served by not securing forward employment for redeliveries 
due later this year where there is the possibility of improvement 
in those markets before we have to redeploy the vessels. 
The Trustee-Manager will be looking to employ the vessels 
optimally, and have made prudent assumptions about their 
earning potential in our forecasts which underpin the covenant 
relaxation agreements reached with the Lenders.

There has been signifi cant progress made. The Trust now has 
a covenant relaxation agreement with its Lenders until the 
end of 2014. It has reduced its capital expenditure and debt 
repayment schedule due to the timely sale of two vessels. It 
also has a balanced portfolio of strong bareboat charters and 
the ability to capture potential upside that the tanker markets 
currently present. We have come a long way since the new 
senior management team was installed and are committed 
to delivering further value to our unitholders during 2014. We 
move into 2014 on a substantially stronger footing.

Tim Reid   Alan Hatton
Chairman   Executive Director and
    Chief Executive Offi cer
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
& EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

TIM REID
Non-Independent, 
Non-Executive Chairman
Tim Reid was appointed as a Non-
Independent Director of the Trustee-
Manager on 17 June 2013. 

Mr. Reid is a partner with Ferrier 
Hodgson. He has over 23 years of 
experience in the accounting profession 
and specialises in the restructuring of 
businesses.

Mr. Reid is a member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of New 
Zealand and a member of the Institute 
of Singapore Chartered Accountants. 
He is registered as a Public Accountant, 
Approved Company Auditor and 
Approved Liquidator with Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority, 
Singapore.

SIMON DAVIDSON 
Lead Independent Director

Simon Davidson was appointed as a 
Director of the Trustee-Manager on 17 
June 2013. He is also a member of the 
Audit Committee.

Mr. Davidson was a partner in Holman 
Fenwick & Willan’s Singapore branch 
from 1994 to 2013. Mr. Davidson has 
more than 25 years of legal experience 
across a broad range of sectors including 
shipping, commodities and litigation. 
He has argued before High Courts in 
London, Hong Kong and has been 
involved in multiple arbitration cases 
spanning across numerous jurisdictions 
globally.

He is a fellow and Chartered Arbitrator 
with the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
and fellow of both the Hong Kong and 
Singapore Institutes of Arbitrators. He is 
also a qualifi ed solicitor in England, Hong 
Kong and Singapore.

Mr. Davidson holds a Masters of Law in 
Maritime Law from Dalhousie University, 
Nova Scotia, Canada. He also holds a 
Masters of Law from St John’s College, 
Cambridge.

MICHAEL OLIVER
Independent Director

Michael Oliver was appointed as a 
Director of the Trustee-Manager on 26 
June 2013. He is also the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee.

Mr Oliver has over 40 years of 
international experience in the banking 
and fi nancial services industry. 

Based in Singapore since 2001, he 
served as Regional Board Member, Asia/
Oceania for Commerzbank AG until 
his retirement in 2005. As the regional 
chief executive, he was responsible for 
Commerzbank branches in Hong Kong, 
Shanghai, Singapore and Tokyo as well 
as its merchant banking subsidiaries and 
corporate banking business in the Asia 
Pacifi c region. During his service of more 
than 19 years at Commerzbank, he has 
held senior positions in London and 
Hong Kong.

Before joining Commerzbank, Mr Oliver 
was with The First National Bank of 
Boston for 18 years, holding a variety 
of commercial banking, leasing and 
corporate fi nance positions in U.S., 
Australia, and Europe.
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The Board of FSLTM, as Trustee-Manager of FSL Trust, comprises of individuals with a 
broad range of commercial skills including expertise in maritime law and shipping fi nance. 
The Board has fi ve Directors, three of whom are independent. 

MICHAEL J. MONTESANO
Independent Director

Michael J. Montesano was appointed 
as a Director of the Trustee-Manager in 
2007. He is also a member of the Audit 
Committee.

Dr. Montesano is currently a visiting 
research fellow at the Institute of 
Southeast Asian Studies in Singapore 
and the Managing Editor of the journal 
– SOJOURN (Journal of Social Issues 
in Southeast Asia). He has extensive 
knowledge and expertise on Southeast 
Asia socio-economic and political affairs 
and is frequently quoted by international 
media on them. He has thus far co-
edited fi ve books on Southeast Asia and 
conducted detailed economic-policy 
research in Myanmar since 2010.

Dr. Montesano holds a doctorate in 
Southeast Asian history from Cornell 
University and various degrees from 
Yale University and the University of 
Philippines.

ROGER WOODS 
Chief Operating Offi cer

Roger Woods was appointed Chief 
Operating Offi cer of the Trustee-Manager 
on 17 September 2013.

Mr. Woods oversees the general 
business operations of the Trust, which 
includes the short and medium term 
commercial deployment of vessels and 
relationship with technical managers. 
Mr. Woods has over 30 years of 
experience in shipping-related sectors 
including chartering, operations and ship 
management dealing with crude oil, oil 
products and dry cargoes. Notably, Mr. 
Woods has a track record of negotiating 
favourable time charters, sale and 
purchase deals as well as dealing with 
legal disputes, insurance matters and 
operational issues.

Mr. Woods previously served as the 
General Manager at FR8, running 
its London offi ce and focusing on 
commercial projects and operational 
performance. Prior to that, over a span 
of 14 years, Mr. Woods served as a 
Charter Manager, Operations Manager 
and Managing Director at Tamoil 
Shipping in London. He has also worked 
for Ugland Brothers Ltd and Jebsens 
Ship Management Ltd among others.

Mr. Woods is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Shipbrokers. 

ALAN HATTON
Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Offi cer
Alan Hatton was appointed as a Director 
of the Company and the Chief Executive 
Offi cer of the Trustee-Manager on 27 
August 2013.

Mr. Hatton oversees the general 
management of the business and is 
responsible for the Trustee-Manager’s 
performance. He has signifi cant 
commercial shipping and fi nance 
experience including negotiating and 
executing time charters, sale and 
purchase deals, risk management 
strategies, dispute resolution and ship 
fi nancing.

Mr. Hatton previously served as Chief 
Executive Offi cer of FR8 for fi ve years 
after joining the Company as Chief 
Financial Offi cer in 2007. Prior to that, 
Mr. Hatton was an investment banker 
specialising in Merger & Acquisitions 
and Corporate Finance for Lazard and 
Dresdner Kleinwort in London.

Mr. Hatton holds both a Master and 
Bachelor of Science from the London 
School of Economics and Political 
Science (LSE).
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A MODERN, 
DIVERSIFIED FLEET 
Managing our vessel portfolio 
to maximise value
23 vessels across 4 shipping sub-sectors, 
with strong contracted container revenues and 
access to tanker market upside.
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011 FY 2010 FY 2009

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Income Statement

Revenue 89,993 106,107 110,714 100,494 98,768

Results from Operating Activities (40,628) 19,280 3,404 19,964 30,997

(Loss)/Profi t for the Year (65,213) (8,387) (17,066) (5,699) 8,423

Financial Position

Total Assets 662,627 774,935 822,415 836,029 903,239

Total Liabilities 396,991 457,703 497,436 493,581 522,502

Shareholder’s Equity 265,636 317,232 324,979 342,448 380,737

Financial Ratios

Earnings per unit1 (US cents/unit)  (9.96)  (1.28)    (2.72)1  (0.95)   1.571

Net Asset Value (US cents/unit)  0.41  0.48  0.50  0.57  0.64

1 Based on weighted average number of issued units

Note: Results from Operating Activities and (Loss)/Profi t for the Year impacted by vessel impairment taken in Year 2013, 2011 and 2010 of $43.4 million, $22.1 
million and $7.9 million respectively. Nil impairment in Year 2012 and 2009.

 Results for the Year 2013 are further reduced by an impairment loss on available-for-sale fi nancial assets of US$5.3 million. This relates to the market valuation 
of the shares in TORM held by the Trust.

FIRST SHIP LEASE TRUST
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Bareboat Charter Equivalent Revenue1 by Vessel Type 

Bareboat Charter Equivalent Revenue1 by Employment Type

1  Excludes deferred income relating to the receipt of shares in TORM A/S by FSL Trust as part of the agreement to permanently amend the terms on its two bareboat  
 charter contracts.

Chemical Tankers 6%

Crude Oil Tankers 5%

Containerships 56%

Dry Bulk Carriers 3%

Product Tankers 30%

FY2013

Bareboat 86%

Spot 1%
Pool 6%

Time Charter 7%

FY2013

Annual Report 2013
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial overview
For the year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), FSL Trust 
recorded group revenue of US$90.0 million, 15.2% lower than 
the previous financial year (“FY2012”). The Trust faced another 
challenging year in FY2013, as its lessees succumbed to the 
prolonged shipping downturn. The lease payment defaults by 
Omni Ships Pte. Ltd. (“Omni Ships”) and the subsidiaries of 
Geden Holdings Ltd. (“Geden”) during the year, contributed to 
the weaker performance of the Trust. 

In the first quarter of FY2013, the leases with Omni Ships 
were restructured such that bareboat charter rates for the 
two dry bulk carriers, Stella Fomalhaut and FSL Durban, were 
reduced to US$5,445 per day for 2013, base lease periods 
were extended until 31 December 2018 and all early buyout 
and purchase options were cancelled. However, Omni Ships 
eventually defaulted on their lease payments due to financial 
difficulties and redelivered the two vessels back to the Trust in 
October 2013. The two vessels were employed on short-term 
time charters with the previous charterers after their redeliveries, 
ensuring continuation of earnings. 

Subsequent to the default by Geden in June 2013, the Trust 
took redelivery of both its crude oil tankers, FSL Hong Kong 
and FSL Shanghai in July 2013. The Trustee-Manager deployed 
FSL Hong Kong in the spot market whilst FSL Shanghai was 
employed on a time charter. In December 2013, FSL Hong Kong 
was redeployed on a Revenue Sharing Agreement (“RSA”) to 
secure more stable earnings for the Trust. Both vessels are 
operating under the technical management of Thome Ship 
Management Pte. Ltd. and commercial management of Teekay 
Chartering Limited. 

Despite the setbacks, the Trust’s portfolio of vessels continued 
to generate revenue through long-term bareboat charters, 
time charters, pool employment and spot voyages during the 
course of the year. 

Review of Performance of Vessel Portfolio
Figure 1 shows the Trust’s financial results with a breakdown 
of FY2013 revenue on a bareboat charter equivalent (“BBCE”) 
basis by the various charter types. Total BBCE revenue for 
FY2013 was lower by 17.4% year-on-year. 

Figure 1. Financial performance  

         FY 2013 FY 2012 Inc/(Dec)
         US$’000 US$’000 %

Rentals from vessels on bareboat charter    60,681 76,347 (20.5)
BBCE revenue of vessels in:-   
 - Time charter      4,403 2,270 94.0
 - Pool       4,394 2,531 73.6
 - Spot        610 3,672 (83.4)

Total bareboat charter/BBCE revenue1    70,088 84,820 (17.4)

Less:   
Depreciation expense on vessels2    (54,179) (56,893) (4.8)
Impairment loss on vessels    (43,408) – 100.0 
Management fees      (2,794) (3,365) (17.0)
Trustee fees      (149) (160) (6.9)

 Other trust expenses     (4,888) (5,122) (4.6)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets   (5,298) – 100.0

Other operating expenses     (110,716) (65,540) 68.9

Results from operating activities    (40,628) 19,280 N.M.
Finance income      63 124 (49.2)
Finance expenses      (24,628) (27,782) (11.3)

Loss before income tax     (65,193) (8,378) N.M.
Income tax expense      (20) (9) N.M.

Loss for the year       (65,213) (8,387) N.M.

1  BBCE revenue is equivalent to revenue less voyage and vessel operating expenses.

2  Depreciation expense on dry-docking costs is included in vessel operating expenses in deriving BBCE revenue.

N.M. - Not meaningful

1514

FIRST SHIP LEASE TRUST

W140167 Editorial R2.indd   14 4/5/14   11:11 AM3rd DIGITAL PROOF



Rentals from vessels on bareboat charters fell by 20.5% year-
on-year to US$60.7 million mainly due to the payment defaults 
by Omni Ships and Geden. As at 31 December 2013, 16 out 
of 25 vessels in the Trust’s portfolio were leased on bareboat 
charters. Rentals received from bareboat charter employment 
remain the largest contributor to the Trust’s BBCE revenue 
(more information on lease terms can be found on page 73). 

The performances of the remaining nine vessels in the Trust’s 
portfolio were as follows:

i) Two product tankers, FSL Singapore and FSL Hamburg, 
have been employed on time charters with Petròleo 
Brasileiro S.A. since May 2012 and August 2012 
respectively. These vessels contributed BBCE revenue of 
US$4.0 million in FY2013.

ii) FSL Shanghai, a crude oil tanker, has been employed on 
a short-term time charter since it was redelivered from 
Geden in July 2013. The vessel generated BBCE revenue 
of US$0.4 million in FY2013. 

iii) FSL Hong Kong, which was also redelivered from Geden, 
generated BBCE revenue of US$0.6 million in FY2013 
from employment in the spot market since July 2013. In 
December 2013, FSL Hong Kong was redeployed on a 
RSA and contributed BBCE revenue of US$0.2 million.

iv) Three chemical tankers have been employed in the ‘Nordic 
Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool’ since the third quarter 
of 2012. Collectively, these vessels earned BBCE revenue 
of US$4.2 million in FY2013. 

v) The two dry bulk carriers, Stella Fomalhaut and FSL Durban, 
were redelivered to the Trust from Omni Ships in October 
2013. Thereafter, they were deployed on short-term time 
charters and incurred a marginal BBCE loss of US$14,000 
for FY2013. 

Depreciation expense for FY2013 declined 4.7% to US$54.5 
million as a result of the revision of expected useful life and 
residual value of some vessels. Management and trustee fees, 
which are determined by lease rentals and value of the Trust 
property, also decreased 17.0% and 6.9% respectively. Other 
Trust expenses fell by 4.6% to US$4.9 million due to lower non-
recurring vessel-related expenses. 

During its review of the Trust’s vessel portfolio, management has 
refined the impairment policy and taken a more conservative 
view of the carrying value of redelivered assets. Upon re-
assessment, it was determined that the carrying amounts of 10 

of the Trust’s vessels had exceeded their recoverable amounts 
and a non-cash and one-off impairment loss of US$43.4 million 
was recognised. 

The Trust has paid all principal and interest due during the year 
and consequently reduced its outstanding loan balance by 
US$54.0 million, including a one-time repayment of US$10.0 
million in June 2013, to US$381.6 million as at 31 December 
2013. Finance expenses decreased by 11.3% as a result of the 
reduction in the outstanding loan.

The Trust reported a net loss of US$65.2 million for FY2013. 
Cash and cash equivalents stood at US$20.4 million as at 31 
December 2013.

Portfolio overview
As at 31 December 2013, FSL Trust has a portfolio of 25 vessels 
with an aggregate net book value of US$627.5 million and a 
dollar-weighted average age of approximately eight years. 

As at end-December 2013, the dollar-weighted average 
remaining lease term of the 16 vessels on long-term bareboat 
charters is four years (excluding early buyout and extension 
options). Excluding the TORM charters which are now on 
variable rates, the remaining contracted BBCE revenue of the 
leases is approximately US$186.5 million (See Figure 2).

Figure 2. Remaining contracted revenue stood at 
US$186.5 million* as at 31 December 2013

*  Based on 14 vessels leased on fixed-rate bareboat charters (excludes  
 extension and early buyout options).

The lease maturities of the vessels on long-term bareboat 
charters are staggered so that only a small portion of the overall 
lease portfolio would mature in any one year. The Trust has two 
leases expiring in July 2014 and one in December 2014 (See 
Figure 3).

1 Includes a US$10.0 million security deposit placed with the security agent of the Trust’s loan facility.
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Vessel Type

Containership

Product Tanker

Name of VesselName of Vessel 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Cape Ferro

Cape Falcon

Ever Radiant

Ever Respect

YM Eminence

YM Elixir

YM Enhancer

Cumbrian Fisher

Clyde Fisher

Shannon Fisher

Solway Fisher

Specialty

Seniority

Superiority

FSL Hamburg

FSL Singapore

Base Extension

Figure 3. Lease maturity of vessels on bareboat charters1 (2014 – 2022) – dollar-weighted average remaining 
lease term is four years2 

1 FSL Hamburg and FSL Singapore are on time charters for over one year, two LR2 tankers are on market-related long term bareboat charters

2 As at 31 December 2013, based on 16 vessels employed on long-term bareboat charters. Calculated on a dollar-weighted average basis by net book value and  
 excludes extension and early buyout options.
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Loan facility and loan covenants
FSL Trust has a 6-year amortising term loan with an outstanding 
loan balance of US$381.6 million as of 31 December 2013 which 
will mature in 2017. This term loan facility, secured against FSL 
Trust’s 25 vessels1 and the Trust’s shares in TORM, was fully 
drawn down in December 2011. Under this loan facility, FSL 
Trust will make quarterly loan repayments of US$11.0 million, 
which will progressively reduce its outstanding loan balance and 
reduce its financing risk at loan maturity (see page 60, Note 13 
for more details on interest margin on the loan facility).

In June 2012, the Trustee-Manager secured a temporary 
relaxation on two of its loan covenants from its Lenders 
for 12 months until 30 June 2013. As market conditions 
remained weak upon the expiry of the temporary relaxation, 
the Trust was unable to meet its original loan covenants and 
the Trustee-Manager sought an extension of the relaxation of 
loan covenants with its Lenders. After an extended period of 
discussions, the Trustee-Manager successfully secured a set 
of covenant relaxation terms at the end of February 2014. 
This ensures the near term future of the Trust and provides a 
platform for the Trust to move forward. 

The relaxation of loan covenants is granted to FSL Trust until 
31 December 2014 (“Relaxation Period”) and is based on the 
following key conditions: 

i. meeting the relaxed Debt Service Coverage (“DSC”) ratios 
as follow:

   Q1FY14 Q2FY14 Q3FY14 Q4FY14

 DSC ratio  0.90 0.95 1.00 1.10

ii. meeting the minimum value-to-loan (“VTL”) ratios as follow:

   Q1FY14 Q2FY14 Q3FY14 Q4FY14

 VTL ratio  105% 105% 110% 110%

iii. a cash sweep mechanism to repay debt, which applies until 
the end of the relaxation period or when VTL is up to 125%, 
as per the original loan documentation; and

iv. an upfront fee of 5bps on the loan outstanding.

During the Relaxation Period, a US$10.0 million security 
deposit is placed with the security agent and a levy of 2.0% per 
annum imposed on the shortfall amount which is the difference 
between the outstanding loan balance and theoretical loan 
balance assuming VTL ratio is 125%. The shares of all the 
vessel-owning Special Purpose Companies owned by FSL 
Trust will also be pledged to the Lenders2.

Due to non-compliance of the loan covenants at 31 
December 2013, the bank loan may have been called for 
repayment at any time upon notification by the Lenders. 
Accordingly, the loan balance was classified within current 
liabilities as at 31 December 2013. With the Relaxation 
Period extended until 31 December 2014, the relevant loan 
balance will be reclassified to non-current liabilities from  
Q1 2014. 

The Trust has hedged part of its interest rate risk through a 
combination of interest rate swaps and/or natural hedges to fix 
its interest rates. The fixed interest rates range from 1.06% per 
annum to 5.24% per annum. 

1 25 vessels as at 31 December 2013. Two dry bulk vessels were sold in March 2014.

2 At the time of writing the covenant relaxation extension had been fully agreed, pending final documentation. 
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A STEADFAST 
COURSE 
Navigating challenges and 
improving performance
We are committed to enhancing the performance of the 
Trust and delivering value to our unitholders.
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FSL TRUST’S BUSINESS

THE TRUST
First Ship Lease Trust (“FSL Trust” or the “Trust”) is a business 
trust constituted in March 2007 and registered under the 
Business Trusts Act, Chapter 31A of Singapore, or the Business 
Trusts Act, to provide long-term lease financing across major 
maritime segments. 

Since its establishment, FSL Trust has been primarily engaged 
in the business of providing lease financing on a bareboat 
charter basis to the international shipping industry. The Trust’s 
portfolio grew through acquisitions of vessels with substantially 
fixed rate long-term bareboat charters. Unfortunately, some of 
the Trust’s lessees succumbed to financial difficulties and were 
unable to pay the monthly contracted rentals due. Over the 
past three years, the Trust has issued demands of redelivery 
for nine of its vessels and restructured the leases of two of the 
Trust’s product tankers. 

Taking into consideration the prevailing weak but improving 
market conditions, the Trust deployed the redelivered vessels 
on shorter term employment so as to ensure flexibility in 
maximising their earnings. When the shipping industry recovers, 
these vessels will be able to benefit from improvements in 
charter rates and secure higher revenues for the Trust. 

As at 31 December 2013, the Trust owned a diversified 
portfolio of 25 vessels, consisting of 11 product tankers, seven 
containerships, three chemical tankers, two crude oil tankers 
and two dry bulk carriers with a dollar-weighted average age of 
eight years (based on net book value as at 31 December 2013).

On 18 March 2014, the Trust sold its two 15-year old dry bulk 
carriers. The proceeds from the sale of the two dry bulk carriers 
were applied to reducing the indebtedness of the Trust. The sale 
of the two dry bulk carriers will reduce the maintenance cost 
and mitigate the upcoming capital expenditure on dry docking 
for these two relatively old vessels in the Trust’s portfolio. The 
Trust strives to maintain a modern fleet of vessels and manage 
its risk profile prudently.

Of the remaining 23 vessels in FSL Trust’s portfolio, 16 vessels 
are leased to international shipping companies on long-term 
“hell and high water” bareboat leases. 

Under a “hell and high water” bareboat lease, the vessel is 
operated by the Trust’s lessee, who is responsible for all vessel 
operating and maintenance costs, and the lessee is obligated to 
pay FSL Trust even if the vessel is not operating for any reason. 
14 out of 16 bareboat leases in the Trust’s portfolio have fixed 
rates throughout their lease terms, which provide protection 
against shipping cycle risks such as volatility in the spot and 
short-term time charter markets. This enables the Trust’s portfolio 
to generate a significant amount of stable and predictable long-
term revenue and cash flow. The remaining two vessels on 
bareboat charters are leased on variable market rates.

The remaining seven vessels in the FSL Trust’s portfolio are 
employed on short-term time charters, in a pool or in a revenue 
sharing agreement. Two product tankers are chartered on 
three-year fixed rate time charters and one crude oil tanker 
is chartered on a short-term variable-rate time charter. The 
charterer is liable for voyage costs while FSL Trust is responsible 
for the operation and maintenance of the vessels and bears all 
costs relating to operating the vessels.

A second crude oil tanker and three chemical tankers, employed 
in a revenue sharing agreement and a pool respectively, are 
commercially managed by managers jointly with other similar 
vessels. Net earnings are distributed monthly to ship owners 
based on differences in vessel specifications and performance. 

FSL Trust has appointed third-party commercial and technical 
managers for vessels that are not leased on long-term bareboat 
charters. 

As at 31 December 2013, the Trust’s portfolio of bareboat 
charters has an average remaining lease term of four years (on 
a dollar-weighted basis by net book value, excluding extensions 
and buyout options). The Trust has an aggregate remaining 
contracted revenue of approximately US$186.5 million from its 
14 fixed rate bareboat charters.

THE TRUSTEE-MANAGER
FSL Trust is managed by FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. 
(“FSLTM”), the Trustee-Manager. FSLTM is responsible for the 
Trust’s investment and financing strategies, asset acquisition 
and disposal policies, the overall management of the Trust’s 
business and safeguarding the interests of FSL Trust’s 
unitholders as a whole.

In 2013, new Board members were appointed to FSLTM and 
they have since hired a new senior management team consisting 
of professionals who have significant experience in dealing with 
the financial, technical, operational and commercial aspects of 
global marine transportation. This experience and expertise is 
well suited to the challenges the Trust currently faces and those 
yet to come.

The new management team has built a strong network of 
relationships with customers, intermediaries and finance 
providers in the shipping industry and adjacent markets. It 
works directly with current and prospective customers of FSL 
Trust to ensure their needs are being met while always working 
in the interest of the FSL Trust unitholders.
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

Our Lessees 
Evergreen Marine Corporation Ltd (Taiwan) is a publicly-
traded (TSEC: 2603) owner and operator of containerships. 
Evergreen Marine is also involved in a broad range of other 
marine transportation related businesses, including shipping 
agency services, building and operation of container terminals 
and marine skills training institutes. The company operates 
more than 160 container vessels with more than 240 service 
locations. Evergreen Marine was founded by Dr. Chang Yung-
Fa in 1968 and is controlled by the Chang family.

James Fisher & Sons plc (United Kingdom), listed on the 
London Stock Exchange (LSE: FSJ), is the United Kingdom’s 
leading marine services provider to major corporations in the 
marine, oil and gas, utility and nuclear sectors world-wide. 
Since its beginnings in 1847 as a shipowner and operator, 
James Fisher has developed unparalleled expertise in the 
marine environment, providing comprehensive products, 
services and support to the oil and gas, marine renewables, 
shipping and defence industries. On land, James Fisher is 
increasingly a supplier of choice to the nuclear construction 
and transportation sectors, providing specialist knowledge, 
skills and capabilities in the most safety-critical of engineering 
environments. 

Petròleo Brasileiro S.A. (Brazil) is an integrated oil and gas 
company that is the largest corporation in Brazil. It operates 
as an energy company in sectors including exploration and 
production, refining, oil and natural gas trade and transportation, 
petrochemicals and derivatives, electric energy, biofuel and 
other renewable energy source distribution. Petrobras is 
publicly listed on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (ticker: PETR3, 
PETR4) and is majority owned by the Government of Brazil. 

Schoeller Holdings Ltd (Cyprus) is a privately-owned 
investment company. Schoeller Holdings has diverse interests 
in the maritime and non-maritime businesses. In the maritime 
businesses, it is engaged in ship owning, ship management 
and liner services. It owns one of the world’s largest ship 
management companies, Columbia Shipmanagement Ltd. and 
several liner companies including Bengal Tiger Lines, Austral 
Asia Line and New Pacific Line.

TORM A/S (Denmark) TORM was founded in 1889. The 
company conducts business worldwide and is headquartered 
in Copenhagen, Denmark. TORM’s shares are listed on 
NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen (ticker: TORM). TORM is one of 
the world’s leading carriers of refined oil products as well as a 
player in the dry bulk market. The Company operates a fleet of 
approximately 100 modern vessels in cooperation with other 
respected shipping companies sharing TORM’s commitment 
to safety, environmental responsibility and customer service.

Yang Ming Marine Transport Corporation (Taiwan) 
is a publicly-traded (TSEC: 2609) owner and operator of 
containerships, dry bulk carriers and port terminals. As of mid-
2013, Yang Ming operates a fleet of 88 vessels comprising 
mainly containerships, with aggregate capacity of 4.7 million 
dwt / operating capacity of 386,000 TEUs. Yang Ming was 
ranked the fifteenth largest container shipping company in 
the world by aggregate tonnage as at end-January 20141. 
The Taiwan Ministry of Transportation and Communications 
owns 35.5% of the outstanding stock of Yang Ming as of 31 
December, 2012.

Note: Information concerning our lessees was derived from their respective websites and publicly accessible sources.

1. Source: Alphaliner
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PORTFOLIO 
OVERVIEW

FSL Trust has portfolio of  

23 modern and  
high-quality vessels1 
consisting of containerships, chemical, 
crude oil and product tankers. 

FSL New York
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Usuki Shipyard, Japan
Capacity: 19,970 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

FSL London
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Usuki Shipyard, Japan
Capacity: 19,966 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

FSL Tokyo
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Shin Kurushima, Japan
Capacity: 20,938 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

CHEMICAL TANKER

FSL Hong Kong
Year Built: 2007
Builder: Samsung Heavy 
Industries, South Korea
Capacity: 115,000 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

FSL Shanghai
Year Built: 2007
Builder: Samsung Heavy 
Industries, South Korea
Capacity: 115,000 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

CRUDE OIL TANKER

Ever Respect
Year Built: 1995
Builder: Mitsubishi Heavy 
Industries, Japan
Capacity: 4,229 TEU 
Flag: Panama

YM Eminence
Year Built: 2008
Builder: CSBC Corporation, 
Taiwan
Capacity: 4,250 TEU 
Flag: Liberia

YM Elixir
Year Built: 2008
Builder: CSBC Corporation, 
Taiwan
Capacity: 4,250 TEU 
Flag: Liberia

YM Enhancer
Year Built: 2008
Builder: CSBC Corporation, 
Taiwan
Capacity: 4,250 TEU 
Flag: Liberia

Cape Ferro
Year Built: 2003
Builder: Peene Werft, Germany
Capacity: 1,221 TEU 
Flag: Marshall Islands/Cyprus

Cape Falcon
Year Built: 2003
Builder: Peene Werft, Germany
Capacity: 1,221 TEU 
Flag: Marshall Islands

Ever Radiant
Year Built: 1994
Builder: Mitsubishi Heavy 
Industries, Japan
Capacity: 4,229 TEU 
Flag: Panama

CONTAINERSHIP
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FSL Hamburg
Year Built: 2005
Builder: Hyundai Mipo 
Dockyard, South Korea
Capacity: 47,496 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

FSL Singapore
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Hyundai Mipo 
Dockyard, South Korea
Capacity: 47,470 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

TORM Margrethe
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Dalian Shipbuilding 
Industry Co. Ltd, PRC
Capacity: 109,672 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

TORM Marie
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Dalian Shipbuilding 
Industry Co. Ltd, PRC
Capacity: 109,672 DWT 
Flag: Singapore

Solway Fisher
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Damen Galati, 
Romania
Capacity: 5,421 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas

Speciality
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Qingshan Shipyard, 
Wuhan, PRC
Capacity: 4,426 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas/U.K.

Seniority
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Qingshan Shipyard, 
Wuhan, PRC
Capacity: 4,426 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas/U.K.

Superiority
Year Built: 2007
Builder: Qingshan Shipyard, 
Wuhan, PRC
Capacity: 4,426 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas/U.K.

Cumbrian Fisher
Year Built: 2004
Builder: Samho, South Korea
Capacity: 12,921 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas

Clyde Fisher
Year Built: 2005
Builder: Samho, South Korea
Capacity: 12,984 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas

Shannon Fisher
Year Built: 2006
Builder: Damen Galati, 
Romania
Capacity: 5,421 DWT 
Flag: Bahamas

PRODUCT TANKER

1 Dry bulk carriers, Stella Fomalhaut and FSL Durban, were sold on 18 March 2014. Please refer to announcement “FSL Trust Reduces Debt Facility and FY2014 
Debt Repayment with Disposal of Vessels” on SGXnet, for further details.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

FSLTM manages risk in a variety of ways. It assesses the risk 
in new lease transactions and asset disposals, it monitors risk 
to reduce the potential for lessee default, it hedges risk through 
currency and interest rate swaps and it also mitigates risk by 
actively managing the performance of its third party commercial 
and technical managers.

Risk Assessment
Prior to entering a lease transaction, the Trust’s former 
risk assessment process (part of a proprietary internal risk 
management system) focused on the assessment of credit 
risk, asset risk and concentration risks associated with a 
potential lessee and the transaction. The process involved 
performing due diligence to ascertain the credit strength of the 
potential lessee, stress testing of cash flow projections, and 
third party credit report reviews to ensure investment returns 
were commensurate with the lessee’s risk profile. The asset 
risk assessment process also evaluated the asset residual risk 
and determined an acceptable level of asset residual value 
based on a statistical analysis of reputable third-party historical 
transaction data and the asset price, quality and fungibility.

However the Trust has to accept that, despite these steps, 
transactions and relationships that were entered into in 
which risk significantly outweighed returns, as recent defaults 
have illustrated. Going forward risk assessment will not only 
focus on the financial records and credit ratings of potential 
counterparties, but will also be supported by the insights gained 
from the experience of senior management and their networks 
to assess the suitability of counterparties and transaction 
parameters.

With no new lease transactions entered into since 2012, the 
risk assessment aspect of risk management has focused on 
the risk of ordering the redelivery of vessels, the prospects for 
their redeployment and, if required, the costs and benefits of 
their disposal.

Risk Monitoring
FSLTM monitors risks through regular reviews of the lessees’ 
financial performance, lease payment conduct, credit rating and 
compliance with the respective vessel insurance covenants. 
It also maintains oversight of the vessels’ condition through 
annual vessel inspections. FSLTM maintains regular dialogues 
with the lessees and monitors their developments.

Risk Hedging
To manage the interest rate and foreign exchange risks that may 
arise in the course of FSL Trust’s business and the financing 
for its transactions, FSLTM may from time to time enter into 
derivative transactions. This include interest rate swaps (to 
convert floating interest rates to fixed rates), foreign currency 
forward contracts and cross currency swaps. FSLTM believes 
the use of these risk hedging instruments will help to reduce 
the volatility of and increase the stability of the cash flows from 
the lease portfolio. FSLTM does not hedge credit risk related to 
the lessees.

Risk Mitigation
As the Trust has taken redelivery of nine vessels to date, it is 
exposed to further risks than just the financial issues dealt with 
through risk assessment, risk monitoring and risk hedging. 
These include counterparty or deal specific exposures. Owning 
and operating a fleet of vessels exposes the Trust to other 
significant risks such as industry and market-related risks as 
well as operational and compliance risks. These are mitigated 
through actively managing our relationships with third party 
commercial and technical managers and thorough consultation 
with intermediaries, legal advisers and regulatory authorities. 
This ensures that the Trust safely maintains and operates a fleet 
of commercially viable vessels.

Shipping-related risks are managed through close relationships with third party commercial 
and technical managers and thorough consultation with intermediaries, legal advisers and 
regulatory authorities. This ensures that the Trust safely maintains and operates a fleet of 
commercially viable vessels.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

FSLTM, as Trustee-Manager of FSL Trust, is committed 
to maintaining an open and proactive approach in its 
communications with the investment community. Through 
its investor relations activities, the Trustee-Manager seeks to 
engage and build strong relationships with its unitholders and 
stakeholders. 

FSLTM implements an investor relations programme with 
the key objectives of ensuring clear and timely disclosures of 
material information to all stakeholders and facilitating effective 
two-way communication between the Trustee-Manager and 
its stakeholders. Feedback received from investor relations 
activities, including unitholders’ concerns, changes in 
unitholdings, and analysts’ views are regularly communicated 
to the Board. 

Open Communication with stakeholders
FSLTM strives to maintain regular, clear and honest 
communication with unitholders and various external 
stakeholders. The Trustee-Manager ensures timely disclosure 
and dissemination of material information through a broad 
range of communication channels so as to avoid selective 
disclosure.

Quarterly financial reports and press releases are published 
via SGXNet and OTCQX (for American Depository Receipts 
investors). We provide timely updates of these announcements 
via our corporate website www.FSLTrust.com. Investors are 
encouraged to sign up for our email alert service to receive 
updates as and when announcements are made by FSLTM. 

Press releases are disseminated to local and industry related 
media so as to ensure important information related to the Trust 
reaches a wider audience. 

Proactive engagement through appropriate 
channels
FSL Trust participates in and is represented at industry 
conferences, such as the Marine Money forums. The Trustee-
Manager actively updates the investment community with key 
developments of the Trust and provides industry information, 
as and when necessary, to facilitate a better understanding of 
the Trust’s business and the wider global marine transportation 
industry.

FSLTM maintains regular dialogue with investors through one-
on-one meetings, conference calls and emails. Every quarter, 
a post results conference call is organised to give investors 
and analysts an opportunity to listen to the Trustee-Manager’s 
presentation of the quarterly results and have an in-depth 
discussion with senior management on the Trust’s performance. 

High quality Information access
To maintain a high level of transparency and accessibility, the 
financial and business information on FSL Trust’s corporate 
website is updated on a regular basis. The website contains 
an extensive archive of FSL Trust’s financial statements, annual 
reports, press releases, presentation slides, audio presentations 
as well as information on the Trust’s vessel portfolio. Other 
useful online resources for investors include a comprehensive 
frequently-asked-question section and factsheet. 

Investors may contact FSLTM via its investor relations email: 
investors@firstshiplease.com 

To maintain a high level of transparency and accessibility, the financial and business 
information on FSL Trust’s corporate website is updated on a regular basis. The website 
contains an extensive archive of FSL Trust’s financial statements, annual reports, press 
releases, presentation slides, audio presentations as well as information on the Trust’s 
vessel portfolio. Other useful online resources for investors include a comprehensive 
frequently-asked-question section and factsheet. 
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

FSLTM is responsible for creating a sustainable future for FSL 
Trust and its unitholders. To achieve this, FSLTM is committed 
to upholding high standards of corporate governance, adopting 
best labour practices, mitigating any environment impact and 
contributing to the local community. 

Corporate Governance 
FSLTM is guided by the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 
on all its dealings with regard to FSL Trust. It is committed 
to managing the Trust’s business in a transparent and 
ethical manner based on high standards of integrity and 
professionalism as it conducts business with customers and 
other stakeholders. 

FSLTM has adopted a code of conduct that sets out the 
standards of ethical practices expected of employees in the 
conduct of the Trust’s business. All employees, officers and 
directors will continue to comply with the code of conduct. 
The code of conduct covers all aspects of the Trust’s activities, 
including compliance with laws and regulations, conflict of 
interest, privacy of information, business and workplace 
conduct, fair dealing, gifts and entertainment, and workplace 
health and safety. 

Employees are encouraged to report violations or potential 
violations of laws, rules and regulations of the code of conduct 
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee directly. Violation of the 
code of conduct may result in disciplinary action.

Our latest corporate governance report can be found on page 75. 

Labour Practices
FSLTM’s employees are critical to the business. FSLTM will 
continue to adopt fair employment and human resource 
practices to create a healthy environment for its workforce to 
thrive. 

FSLTM values the diversity of its employees and directors. 
It is committed to providing equal opportunity in all aspects 
of employment. Abusive, harassment or offensive conduct is 
unacceptable, whether verbal, physical or visual. Examples 
include derogatory comments based on racial or ethnic 
characteristics and unwelcome sexual advances. Employees 
are encouraged to speak out when a co-worker’s inappropriate 
conduct makes them uncomfortable, and to report such 
conduct or harassment to the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
when it occurs.

Social Responsibility
FSLTM has actively contributed to the local maritime industry in 
various ways. To help grow and develop the pool of talent in the 
maritime industry, FSLTM invites student interns from Nanyang 
Technological University’s Maritime Studies programme every 
year for internship attachments. FSLTM aims to provide all 
interns with broad learning experiences in related areas such 
as sales, risk management, finance and shipmanagement (in 
partnership with Columbia Shipmanagement). FSLTM also 
strives to support various maritime conferences and events 
held in Singapore, which contribute to the vibrant maritime 
sector. 

Environmental Responsibility
FSL Trust is the owner and lessor of 23 vessels. Pursuant to 
the Trust’s ”hell and high water” bareboat leases, the operation 
of 16 of its vessels rests entirely with its international lessees. 
These lessees carry out their operations in accordance with 
their standard operating procedures and they are required to 
comply with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. 

Due to the prolonged crisis affecting the shipping industry, 
nine of the Trust’s vessels were redelivered by lessees to FSL 
Trust under default situations. These vessels are now managed 
by FSL Trust’s agents in compliance with all applicable 
environmental laws and regulations. FSL Trust’s agents include 
Columbia Shipmanagement (Singapore) Pte Ltd, Thome Ship 
Management Pte. Ltd. and Teekay Chartering Limited who are 
accredited with ISO 14001 standards and are committed to 
promoting effective and efficient environmental management in 
their organisations. 

Stakeholder Engagement
Please refer to the investor relations section on page 25 for 
more information on stakeholder engagement.
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The directors of FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd., the Trustee-Manager of First Ship Lease Trust (the “Trust”) and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the “Group”), are pleased to submit this annual report to the unitholders of the Trust, together with the 
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Trustee-Manager in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Michael J. Montesano
Simon Davidson (appointed on 17 June 2013)
Tim Reid (appointed on 17 June 2013)
Michael Oliver (appointed on 26 June 2013)
Alan Hatton (appointed on 27 August 2013)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register kept by the Trustee-Manager for the purposes of Section 76 of the Singapore Business Trusts Act (the 
“Act”), particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and 
infant children) in units of the Trust are as follows:

Name of directors
Holdings at beginning 

of the year 
Holdings at 

end of the year
The Trust Direct Deemed Direct Deemed

Units

Michael J. Montesano 13,200 – 13,200 –

Except as disclosed above, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in units, debentures, warrants 
or unit options of the Trust, or of related corporations, either at the beginning or at the end of the financial year.

Except as disclosed above, neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year was the Trustee-Manager a party to any 
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Trustee-Manager to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of units, debentures or unit options of the Trust.

Except as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or 
become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Trust or a related corporation with the director, or with a 
firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Trust between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2014.

UNIT OPTIONS

During the financial year, there were:

(i) no options granted by the Trustee-Manager to any person to take up unissued units in the Trust; and

(ii) no units issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued units of the Trust.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued units of the Trust under option.

REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE-MANAGER OF FIRST SHIP 
LEASE TRUST
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Trustee-Manager, work performed by the external auditors 
and reviews performed by management and the Board, the Board and the Audit Committee are of the opinion that the Trustee-
Manager’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational and compliance risks were adequate as at 31 December 2013. No 
system can provide absolute assurance against material errors, human errors, fraud or other irregularities and the internal controls 
of the Trustee-Manager are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance in this regard.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee during the financial year and as at the date of this report comprise three independent and 
non-executive directors:

Michael J. Montesano
Simon Davidson
Michael Oliver

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Regulation 13(6) of the Singapore Business Trusts Regulations 
and the SGX Listing Manual.

In performing its functions, the Audit Committee reviewed the overall scope of external audit and the assistance given by the 
Trustee-Manager’s officers to the auditors. It met with the Trust’s external auditors to discuss the scope and results of their 
quarterly reviews and annual audit. In addition, the Audit Committee reviewed the financial statements of the Group and the Trust 
before their submission to the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors, the nomination of Messrs KPMG LLP for re-appointment as 
auditors of the Trust at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the unitholders.

AUDITORS

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager

 
Tim Reid Alan Hatton
Chairman  Director

7 APRIL 2014

REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE-MANAGER OF FIRST SHIP 
LEASE TRUST
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STATEMENT AND CERTIFICATION

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 74 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Group and of the Trust as at 31 December 2013 and the results, changes in unitholders’ funds and cash flows of the Group 
for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Business Trusts Act and International 
Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they fall due.

With respect to the income statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013:

- fees or charges paid or payable out of the trust property to the Trustee-Manager are in accordance with the Deed of Trust 
dated 19 March 2007 as amended and supplemented from time to time;

- interested person transactions are not detrimental to the interests of all the unitholders as a whole based on the 
circumstances at the time of the transaction; and

- the Board is not aware of any violation of duties of the Trustee-Manager which would have a materially adverse effect on 
the business of the Trust or on the interests of all the unitholders as a whole.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised the above statements and these financial statements for 
issue.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager

 
Tim Reid Alan Hatton
Chairman   Director

7 APRIL 2014

STATEMENT BY THE TRUSTEE-MANAGER
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In accordance with Section 86 of the Singapore Business Trusts Act, I certify that I am not aware of any violation of duties of the 
Trustee-Manager which would have a materially adverse effect on the business of the Trust or on the interests of all the unitholders 
of the Trust as a whole.

Alan Hatton
Chief Executive Officer

7 APRIL 2014

STATEMENT BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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UNITHOLDERS OF FIRST SHIP LEASE TRUST

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of First Ship Lease Trust (the “Trust”) (constituted in the Republic of 
Singapore pursuant to a Deed of Trust dated 19 March 2007) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the statements of 
financial position of the Group and the Trust as at 31 December 2013, the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in unitholders’ funds and statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 35 to 74.

Trustee-Manager’s responsibility for the financial statements

The Trustee-Manager is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Business Trusts Act, Chapter 31A (the Act) and International Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets that are 
part of the trust property of the registered business trust are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions by the Trustee-Manager entered into on behalf of or purported to be entered into on behalf of the registered business 
trust are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair accounts and to 
maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Trust’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Trustee-Manager, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Trust are properly 
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and International Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Trust as at 31 December 2013 and the results, changes in unitholders’ funds and 
cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2.2 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the 
lenders of the amortising term loan facility, with a carrying amount of US$377,492,000 as at 31 December 2013, had previously 
granted the Trust temporary relaxation (“Relaxation”) of two loan covenants, relating to Security Value-to-Loan ratio and Debt 
Service Coverage ratio (“the Covenants”). The Relaxation expired on 31 December 2013. 

As the Trust did not fully comply with the relaxed covenants and conditions attached thereto as at 31 December 2013, the entire 
bank loan could have been called for repayment at any time upon notification by the lenders. Accordingly, the loan balance was 
classified within current liabilities, giving rise to the deficiency in net current assets, amounting to US$364,377,000 as at 31 
December 2013. In February 2014, the lenders agreed to revise the relaxed Covenants until 31 December 2014 (“Relaxation 
extension”). The Relaxation extension is awaiting execution from the lenders and is granted on the basis that the Trust meets 
certain conditions (the ‘Conditions’) during the Relaxation extension period. 

Should the lenders not execute the Relaxation extension or where the Trust breaches either of the two loan Covenants upon 
the expiry of the Relaxation extension, the lenders shall have the ability to exercise their remedies under the loan agreement. 
Management is of the view that the Relaxation extension will be executed and any conditions attached thereto will be met. 
Management is also of the view that any potential breach of the Covenants, upon expiry of the Relaxation extension, will be resolved 
and the estimated cash flows from the portfolio of vessels will be sufficient to meet the scheduled principal repayments and interest 
payments. Accordingly, it is appropriate to continue using the going concern basis for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

The above circumstances indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might 
result from the outcome of this material uncertainty. In the event that the Group is unable to continue as a going concern, it may 
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Trustee-Manager and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
7 APRIL 2014

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Group Trust
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets
Vessels 4 630,968 727,517 – –
Subsidiaries 5 – – 479,750 523,253
Available-for-sale financial assets 6 4,550 5,637 – –
Derivative assets 7 233 47 233 47
Non-current assets 635,751 733,201 479,983 523,300

Derivative assets 7 – 185 – 185
Inventories 8 1,185 519 – –
Trade and other receivables 9 5,324 3,542 64,139 85,838
Cash and cash equivalents 10 20,367 37,488 12,091 29,604
Current assets 26,876 41,734 76,230 115,627
Total assets 662,627 774,935 556,213 638,927

Equity attributable to unitholders of the 
Trust

Units in issue 11 525,412 525,412 525,412 525,412
Reserves 12 (259,776) (208,180) (351,832) (329,918)
Total equity 265,636 317,232 173,580 195,494

Liabilities
Bank loans 13 – 386,218 – 386,218
Derivative liabilities 13 727 4,492 727 4,492
Deferred income 14 5,011 6,455 – –
Non-current liabilities 5,738 397,165 727 390,710

Trade and other payables 15 8,923 7,037 1,020 684
Bank loans 13 377,492 44,000 377,492 44,000
Derivative liabilities 13 3,394 8,039 3,394 8,039
Deferred income 14 1,444 1,444 – –
Current tax payable – 18 – –
Current liabilities 391,253 60,538 381,906 52,723
Total liabilities 396,991 457,703 382,633 443,433
Total equity and liabilities 662,627 774,935 556,213 638,927

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 16 89,993 106,107
Depreciation expense on vessels 4 (54,483) (57,196)
Impairment loss on vessels 4 (43,408) –
Voyage expenses (3,247) (10,545)
Vessel operating expenses (16,354) (10,439)
Management fees (2,794) (3,365)
Trustee fees (149) (160)
Other trust expenses (4,888) (5,122)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset (5,298) –
Results from operating activities (40,628) 19,280

Finance income 17 63 124
Finance costs 17 (24,628) (27,782)
Net finance costs (24,565) (27,658)

Loss before tax 18 (65,193) (8,378)
Income tax expense 19 (20) (9)
Loss for the year (65,213) (8,387)

Income available for distribution 20 - 654

Distribution per unit (US cents) - 0.10

Earnings per unit (US cents)

Basic 21 (9.96) (1.28)

Diluted 21 (9.96) (1.28)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Loss for the year (65,213) (8,387)

Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be classified subsequently to profit or loss:
Translation differences relating to financial statements of foreign operations 1,105 368
Exchange differences on monetary items forming part of net investment in foreign 

operations (110) 155
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 164 (4,728)
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges reclassified to income statement 8,247 8,642
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (1,087) (2,488)
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets reclassified to income 

statement 5,298 –
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 13,617 1,949
Total comprehensive income for the year (51,596) (6,438)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note
Units in 

issue
Hedging 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses

Total 
equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

At 1 January 2012 525,412 (16,213) (2,943) – (181,277) 324,979

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

Loss for the year – – – – (8,387) (8,387)

Other comprehensive 
income

Items that are or may be 
classified subsequently 
to profit or loss:

Translation differences relating 
to financial statements of 
foreign operations – – 368 – – 368

Exchange differences on 
monetary items forming 
part of net investment in 
foreign operations – – 155 – – 155

Effective portion of changes 
in fair value of cash flow 
hedges – (4,728) – – – (4,728)

Net change in fair value 
of cash flow hedges 
reclassified to income 
statement – 8,642 – – – 8,642

Net change in fair value of 
available-for-sale financial 
assets – – – (2,488) – (2,488)

Total other 
comprehensive income – 3,914 523 (2,488) – 1,949

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – 3,914 523 (2,488) (8,387) (6,438)

Transactions with 
unitholders, recognised 
directly in equity

Distributions to unitholders 20 – – – – (1,309) (1,309)
Total transactions with 

unitholders – – – – (1,309) (1,309)
At 31 December 2012 525,412 (12,299) (2,420) (2,488) (190,973) 317,232

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
UNITHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note
Units in 

issue
Hedging 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses

Total 
equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

At 1 January 2013 525,412 (12,299) (2,420) (2,488) (190,973) 317,232

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

Loss for the year – – – – (65,213) (65,213)

Other comprehensive 
income

Items that are or may be 
classified subsequently 
to profit or loss:

Translation differences 
relating to financial 
statements of foreign 
operations – – 1,105 – – 1,105

Exchange differences on 
monetary items forming 
part of net investment in 
foreign operations – – (110) – – (110)

Effective portion of changes 
in fair value of cash flow 
hedges – 164 – – – 164

Net change in fair value 
of cash flow hedges 
reclassified to income 
statement – 8,247 – – – 8,247

Net change in fair value of 
available-for-sale financial 
assets – – – (1,087) – (1,087)

Net change in fair value of 
available-for-sale financial 
assets reclassified to 
income statement – – – 5,298 – 5,298

Total other 
comprehensive income – 8,411 995 4,211 – 13,617

Total comprehensive 
income for the year – 8,411 995 4,211 (65,213) (51,596)

Transactions with 
unitholders, recognised 
directly in equity

Distributions to unitholders 20 – – – – – –
Total transactions with 

unitholders – – – – – –
At 31 December 2013 525,412 (3,888) (1,425) 1,723 (256,186) 265,636

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
UNITHOLDERS’ FUNDS
Year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (65,193) (8,378)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation expense on vessels 54,483 57,196
Impairment loss on vessels 43,408 –
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 5,298 –
Amortisation of debt transaction costs 1,275 1,369
Amortisation of initial direct costs 568 633
Amortisation of deferred income (1,444) (225)
Interest income (63) (124)
Interest expense 23,467 26,218
Unrealised foreign exchange gain (417) (126)

61,382 76,563
Changes in trade and other receivables (1,804) 223
Changes in inventories (666) 479
Changes in trade and other payables 2,142 (25)
Lease income received in advance (315) 1,416
Cash generated from operations 60,739 78,656
Income taxes refund (38) 8
Net cash from operating activities 60,701 78,664

Cash flows from investing activities
Costs incurred for dry-docking (498) –
Interest received 87 100
Net cash from investing activities (411) 100

Cash flows from financing activities 
Distribution to unitholders – (1,309)
Repayment of secured bank loans (44,000) (44,000)
Prepayment of secured bank loans (10,000) –
Interest paid (23,411) (28,271)
Security deposit – (10,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (77,411) (83,580)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (17,121) (4,816)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 27,488 32,304
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 10 10,367 27,488

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustee-Manager on 7 April 2014.

1 DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

First Ship Lease Trust (the “Trust”) is a Singapore-domiciled business trust constituted pursuant to a Deed of Trust dated 
19 March 2007 as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Trust Deed”) with FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. 
(the “Trustee-Manager”). The Trustee-Manager’s registered office is 9 Temasek Boulevard, #19-03, Suntec Tower Two, 
Singapore 038989. The Trust Deed is governed by the laws of the Republic of Singapore. The Trustee-Manager is under a 
duty to take into custody and hold the assets of the Trust in trust for the unitholders as a whole.

The Trust was formally admitted to the Official List of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited on 27 March 2007.

The Trust is a provider of leasing services on a bareboat charter basis to the international shipping industry. It has a 
modern, high quality and diverse portfolio of 25 vessels consisting of 11 product tankers, seven containerships, three 
chemical tankers, two dry bulk carriers and two crude oil tankers as at 31 December 2013. As at the authorisation date 
of the financial statements, 21 vessels are employed on leases (16 vessels on long-term bareboat charters and five 
vessels on time charters) and have a dollar-weighted average remaining lease period of approximately four years (for 
long term bareboat charter and excluding extension periods and early buy-out options). The remaining four has three 
chemical tankers employed in a chemical tanker pool and one crude oil tanker in a RSA (Revenue Sharing Agreement). The 
combined portfolio of vessels has a dollar-weighted average age of approximately eight years.

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Trust and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and 
individually as “Group entities”).

The Trust Deed provides the following fees payable to the Trustee-Manager:

 Management fees

The Trustee-Manager is entitled to receive a management fee of 4.0% of the cash lease income in the relevant calendar 
year.

Any change in the structure of the management fee must be approved by an extraordinary resolution of a meeting of 
unitholders duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

The management fee payable to the Trustee-Manager is payable in the form of cash and/or units (as the Trustee-Manager 
may elect, such election to be irrevocable). Where the management fee is paid in cash, the amount is paid monthly, in 
arrears. Where the management fee is paid in the form of units, the amount is paid quarterly, in arrears.

 Incentive fees

The Trustee-Manager is entitled to receive an incentive fee, payable quarterly and calculated as at 31 March, 30 June, 30 
September and 31 December each year for the three-month period ending on each of the said dates. The incentive fee is 
determined on the basis of comparing the net distribution amount per unit against a benchmark quarterly distribution per 
unit in accordance with the formula stipulated in the Trust Deed.

The incentive fee payable to the Trustee-Manager is payable in the form of cash or, at the option of Trustee-Manager, by 
way of the issue of new units as soon as practicable after the end of the relevant quarter.

Any change in the structure of the incentive fees must be approved by an extraordinary resolution of a meeting of unitholders 
duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.
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 Trustee fees

The Trustee-Manager is entitled to receive a trustee fee of 0.02% per annum of the value of the Trust Property (being all 
the assets of the Trust, as stipulated in the Trust Deed). The trustee fee is payable out of the Trust Property of the Trust in 
cash on a quarterly basis. Each quarterly payment shall be determined based on the value of the Trust Property as at the 
last day of the immediately preceding quarter and as reflected in the quarterly financial information of the Group for that 
quarter. The Trustee-Manager is also entitled to reimbursement of expenses incurred in the performance of its duties under 
the Trust Deed.

Any change in the structure of the trustee fee must be approved by an extraordinary resolution of a meeting of unitholders 
duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

 Other fees

The Trustee-Manager is also entitled to the following:

•	 An	acquisition	fee	amounting	to	1.0%	(or	such	lower	percentage	as	may	be	determined	by	the	Trustee-Manager	
in its absolute discretion) of the acquisition price of vessels acquired directly or indirectly by the Trust, pro-rated if 
applicable, to the proportion of the Trust’s interest. The acquisition fee is payable in the form of cash and/or units 
(as the Trustee-Manager may elect, such election to be irrevocable and made before the payment of the acquisition 
fee). No acquisition fee is payable on the acquisition of the initial portfolio of vessels.

•	 A	disposal	fee	amounting	to	0.5%	(or	such	lower	percentage	as	may	be	determined	by	the	Trustee-Manager	in	its	
absolute discretion) of the sale price of vessels disposed, pro-rated if applicable, to the proportion of the Trust’s 
interest. The disposal fee is payable in cash.

Any increase in the acquisition fee or disposal fee above the permitted limit or any change in the structure of such fees 
shall be approved by an extraordinary resolution of a meeting of unitholders duly convened and held in accordance with 
the provisions of the Trust Deed.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the notes below.

The lenders of the amortising term loan facility, with a carrying amount of US$377,492,000 as at 31 December 2013, had 
previously granted the Trust temporary relaxation (“Relaxation”) of two loan covenants, relating to Security Value-to-Loan 
ratio and Debt Service Coverage ratio (“the Covenants”). The Relaxation expired on 31 December 2013. 

As the Trust did not fully comply with the relaxed covenants and conditions attached thereto as at 31 December 2013, 
the entire bank loan could have been called for repayment at any time upon notification by the lenders. Accordingly, 
the loan balance was classified within current liabilities giving rise to the deficiency in net current assets, amounting to 
US$364,377,000 as at 31 December 2013. In February 2014, the lenders agreed to revise the relaxed Covenants until 31 
December 2014 (“Relaxation extension”). The Relaxation extension is awaiting execution from the lenders and is granted 
on the basis that the Trust meets certain conditions (the ‘Conditions’) during the Relaxation extension period. 



4342

Annual Report 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

2.2 Basis of measurement (cont’d)

Should the lenders not execute the Relaxation extension or where the Trust breaches either of the two loan Covenants 
upon the expiry of the Relaxation extension, the lenders shall have the ability to exercise their remedies under the loan 
agreement. Management is of the view that the Relaxation extension will be executed and any conditions attached thereto 
will be met. Management is also of the view that any potential breach of the Covenants, upon expiry of the Relaxation 
extension, will be resolved and the estimated cash flows from the portfolio of vessels will be sufficient to meet the scheduled 
principal repayments and interest payments. Accordingly, it is appropriate to continue using the going concern basis for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

The above circumstances indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments 
that might result from the outcome of this material uncertainty. In the event that the Group is unable to continue as a going 
concern, it may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in United States (“US”) dollars which is the Trust’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Trustee-Manager to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

•	 Note	3.6	–	classification	of	leases;

•	 Note	4	–	impairment	assessment	and	recoverable	amounts	of	vessels;	and	depreciation,	useful	lives	and	residual	
values of vessels; and

2.5 Change in accounting policy

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations were effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 January 2013, which have been adopted and applied in preparing these financial statements. Those new standards, 
amendments to standards and interpretations that required significant re-assessment of current assumptions and relevant 
to the financial statements of the Group, are set out below:

•	 Presentation	of	 Items	of	Other	Comprehensive	 Income	 (Amendments	 to	 IAS	1) - The Group has modified the 
presentation of items of other comprehensive income in its consolidated statement of comprehensive income, to 
present separately items that would be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those what would never be. 
Comparative information has also been re-presented accordingly. 

 The adoption of IAS 1 has no impact on the recognised assets, liabilities and comprehensive income of the Group. 
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2.5 Change in accounting policy (cont’d)

•	 IFRS	13	Fair Value Measurement – In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the Group has applied 
the new fair value measurement guidance prospectively. Notwithstanding the above, the change had no significant 
impact on the measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The additional disclosures necessary as a result 
of the adoption of this standard has been included in notes 22. 

•	 IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements – The adoption of IFRS 10 changed the definition of control such that 
an investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power with the investee. IFRS 10 introduced a single 
control model with a series of indicators to assess control. IFRS 10 also added additional context, explanation and 
application guidance based on the principle of control.

 The adoption of IFRS 10 had no impact on Group’s assessment of control over its investees.

•	 IFRS	12	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities – The adoption of IFRS 12 set out the disclosures required to be 
made in respect of all forms of an entity’s interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and unconsolidated structured entities.

 The adoption of IFRS 12 did not result in any additional disclosures.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies used by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses 
changes in accounting policies. 

With effect from 1 January 2013, the Group has adopted all the applicable new and revised IFRS that are mandatory for 
application from that date. 

The adoption of these new and revised IFRS had no significant impact to these financial statements. 

3.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Accounting for subsidiaries by the Trust

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Trust’s statement of financial position at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.2 Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. The functional currencies of the Group entities are the US dollar and the Euro. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the 
retranslation of monetary items that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation (see below).

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to US dollars at exchange rates at the end of the reporting 
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to US dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented within equity in the foreign 
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign 
exchange translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.

Net investment in a foreign operation

Exchange differences arising from monetary items that in substance form part of the Trust’s net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognised in other comprehensive income, and are presented within equity in the foreign currency translation 
reserve in the consolidated financial statements. When the foreign operation is disposed of, the cumulative amount in the 
foreign currency translation reserve is transferred to the income statement as an adjustment to the profit or loss arising on 
disposal.

3.3 Vessels

Vessels are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the vessel as well as initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging the operating lease of the vessel.

The cost of replacing part of an item of vessel is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably.

Except as described below, depreciation on vessels leased on a bareboat charter basis under operating lease agreements 
is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis down to the estimated residual value at the end of the 
base lease term, which ranges from nine to twelve years. Except for two Evergreen’s vessels aged more than 17 years, 
the estimated residual value is based on regression analysis of the median historical values for standard vessels obtained 
from third party sources, and for non-standard vessels obtained from specialised brokers. The residual value of the two 
Evergreen’s vessels is estimated based on the average scrap steel price per light deadweight tonne in recent years. 
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3.3 Vessels (cont’d)

Vessels deployed on spot arrangement, time charter, pool arrangement or bareboat charter with rentals based on market 
rates, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates which are calculated to write-down their cost to their estimated 
residual values at the end of the economic useful life of 25 years. The residual value of such vessel is estimated based on 
the average scrap steel price per light deadweight tonne in recent years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date.

Dry-docking costs are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the period to the next scheduled dry-
docking, which is generally five years.

3.4 Inventories

Inventories comprise bunkers and consumable stores. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Cost is derived on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less applicable variable selling expenses. When inventories are consumed, the carrying amount of these 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the year in which the consumption occurs.

3.5 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial 
assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset. Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e. the date that the Group 
commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the 
contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance 
for impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.5 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When an investment is 
derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to income statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise bank loans, and trade and other payables.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. Embedded 
derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of 
the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the 
embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in the income statement when 
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for 
as described below.

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income and transferred to hedging reserve in equity to the extent that the hedge is effective. To the 
extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement.

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, 
hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity remains there 
until the forecast transaction occurs. When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in equity is 
transferred to the carrying amount of the asset when it is recognised. In other cases, the amount recognised in equity is 
transferred to the income statement in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
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3.5 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets: loans and receivables

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Significant loans and receivables are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining loans and receivables are 
assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in fair 
value can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is recognised 
in the income statement.

Impairment of financial assets: available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair 
value reserve in equity to income statement. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to income statement is the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in income 
statement. Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Units in issue

Units issued are classified as equity.

Unit issue costs represent expenses incurred in connection with the issue of units. All such expenses are deducted directly 
from unitholders’ funds, net of any tax effects.

3.6 Leases

When entities within the Group are lessors of an operating lease

Bareboat/time charter

The Group owns vessels and leases them to lessees under fixed and floating rate bareboat/time charter arrangements. 
These charters are classified as operating leases. In determining lease classification at inception, the Group evaluated the 
terms and conditions of the charter arrangement. As the present values of minimum lease payments do not amount to 
substantially the fair values of the vessels, and the purchase options, where applicable, are not expected to be sufficiently 
lower than the fair values at the date the options become exercisable, the Group judged that substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the vessels remain with the Group.

Lease income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred 
by the Group in negotiating and arranging an operating lease added to the carrying amount of the leased asset are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.
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3.7 Impairment – non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely 
are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss in respect of non-financial assets recognised in prior periods is assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.8 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

3.9 Revenue recognition

Lease income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income statement over the period of the respective 
lease terms.

Deferred income, arising from the shares in TORM A/S (“TORM”) received by the Group as part of an agreement to 
permanently amend the terms on its two TORM charter contracts, is recognised in the income statement as ‘bareboat 
charter lease income’ over the remaining lease term on the TORM charter contracts.

For vessels deployed in the spot market, freight income is recognised based on percentage of completion method 
calculated on a discharge-to-discharge basis over the voyage period.

For vessels deployed on pool arrangement, the pool measures revenue based on the contractual rates and the duration 
of each voyage for each vessel, and revenue is recognised upon delivery of service in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the charter parties on a time charter equivalent basis. Total pool revenue is derived by aggregating the 
revenues earned by each vessel participating in the pool. Each vessel owner’s share of the total pool revenue is primarily 
dependent on the i) number of days the vessel has been available for the pool in relation to the total available pool earning 
days during the period, and ii) pool points assigned to each vessel in the pool. Pool points are determined based on the size 
and performance of the vessel. The pool revenue is net of pool commission, bunkers costs and related voyage expenses. 
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3.10 Finance income and finance expense

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, net foreign currency gains and gains on hedging instruments 
that are recognised in the income statement. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, net foreign currency losses, and losses on hedging instruments 
that are recognised in the income statement.

All borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method, except to the extent 
that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its intended use or sale.

3.11 Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The lease income derived by the Group’s entities from the respective bareboat charter and time charter agreements 
qualifies for tax exemption under the Maritime Sector Incentive (“MSI”) scheme (previously known as the Maritime Finance 
Incentive scheme), with effect from 19 March 2007. This tax exemption on the qualifying income will be granted for the 
remaining useful life of any vessel that is acquired by the Trust during the initial period of 10 years from the effective date. 
The distributions made out of the tax exempt income less allowable expenses will also be exempt from Singapore income 
tax in the hands of the unitholders. The freight income and pool income derived by the Group is also exempted from tax 
under Section 13A of the Singapore Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. 

The Group is subject to tax on its non-tax exempt income such as interest income at the prevailing corporate tax rate, after 
adjusting for allowable expenses.

3.12 New standards and interpretations not adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 
1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. 

The adoption of the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not expected to have any material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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4 VESSELS

Vessels
Initial 

direct costs Total

Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2012 1,070,445 7,307 1,077,752
Translation differences on consolidation 1,464 – 1,464
At 31 December 2012 1,071,909 7,307 1,079,216
Addition 498 – 498
Translation differences on consolidation 3,508 – 3,508
At 31 December 2013 1,075,915 7,307 1,083,222

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation  
and impairment losses

At 1 January 2012 290,566 2,490 293,056
Depreciation/amortisation charge for the year 57,196 633 57,829
Translation differences on consolidation 814 – 814
At 31 December 2012 348,576 3,123 351,699
Depreciation/amortisation charge for the year 54,483 568 55,051
Impairment loss 43,272 136 43,408
Translation differences on consolidation 2,096 – 2,096
At 31 December 2013 448,427 3,827 452,254

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2012 779,879 4,817 784,696
At 31 December 2012 723,333 4,184 727,517
At 31 December 2013 627,488 3,480 630,968

All of the Group’s vessels, with a net carrying value of US$627,488,000 (2012: US$723,333,000), are mortgaged to 
financial institutions (see note 13).

Depreciation, useful lives and residual values of vessels

Vessels leased on a bareboat charter basis under operating lease arrangements

Except for bareboat charters with rentals based on market rates, these vessels are depreciated on a straight-line basis at 
rates which are calculated to write-down their cost to their estimated residual values at the end of the base lease term, 
excluding any early buy-out options or extended lease periods. At the reporting date, the Group considered the base lease 
term to be the period which the vessels are expected to be available for use by the lessees. Therefore, should there be any 
notification received from the lessees to exercise the early buy-out option or to extend the lease period beyond the base 
lease term, the depreciation expense of the Group’s vessels in the future periods may therefore be revised. 

The residual value is reviewed at each reporting date, with any change in estimate accounted for as a change in estimate 
prospectively. Except for two vessels nearing the end of their economic useful life, the residual value of such vessel is 
estimated based on regression analysis of the median historical values for standard vessels obtained from third party 
sources, and for non-standard vessels obtained from specialised brokers. Considering the age of the two vessels as 
mentioned above by the time of end of the bareboat contract, management expects to realise the value of the asset through 
scrapping, accordingly, the residual values are estimated based on the average scrap steel price per light deadweight 
tonne in recent years. Factors such as asset price, quality and fungibility are also taken into consideration to determine the 
acceptable level of residual value. Any significant changes in the residual value of the Group’s vessels in future periods can 
affect the depreciation expense.
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Changes in estimates

During the year, the Trust conducted a review of its residual value of its vessels on bareboat charter. As a result of the 
review, the estimated residual values of vessels had changed. The effect of these changes on depreciation expense in 
current and future years are as follow:

2013 2014 to 2015 2016 onwards
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Increase in depreciation expense 622 13,933 3,335

Vessels deployed on time charter, pool arrangement and bareboat charters with rentals based on market rates

These vessels are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates which are calculated to write-down their cost to their 
estimated residual values at the end of the economic useful life of 25 years.

The residual value is reviewed at each reporting date, with any change in estimate accounted for as a change in estimate 
prospectively. The residual value of such vessel is estimated based on the average scrap steel price per light deadweight 
tonne in recent years.

Changes in estimates

i) Vessels leased on time charter agreement

a.  The restructuring of the bareboat charter agreements with the lessee, OMNI Ships Pte. Ltd. (“OMNI Ships”), 
on Stella Fomalhuat and FSL Durban was completed in 2013. Under the restructuring, the base lease period 
for each vessel was extended by two years to 31 December 2018. The expected useful life of each of the 
two vessels was revised from 10 years to 12 years. The residual value of each of the two vessels was also 
revised. The changes in the expected useful life and residual value of these two vessels constitute a change 
in estimates and the effects of the change have been applied prospectively from 1 January 2013.

 Following the lease default by OMNI Ships in September 2013, both vessels were redelivered to FSL Trust in 
October 2013. With the change in charter arrangement, the expected useful life of each of the two vessels 
has been revised from 12 to 25 years and the basis of estimate for residual value has also changed. The 
changes in the expected useful life and residual value of these two vessels constitute a change in estimates 
and the effects of the change have been applied prospectively from 1 October 2013.

 The effects of these changes on depreciation expense in the current year and future years are as follows:

2013 2014 to 2015 2016 onwards
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Decrease in depreciation expense (2,169) (619) -

 These vessels were subsequently sold in March 2014.
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Changes in estimates (cont’d)

i) Vessels leased on time charter agreement (cont’d)

b. Following the lease default by the subsidiaries of Geden Holdings Ltd. (“Geden”) for the two crude oil 
tankers in June 2013, these vessels were redelivered to FSL Trust; FSL Hong Kong is currently employed 
on a Revenue Sharing Agreement (“RSA”) while FSL Shanghai is currently deployed on a short-term variable 
rate time charter. With the premature termination of the bareboat charter operating lease arrangements, 
the expected useful life of each of the two vessels was revised from 10 years to 25 years and the basis of 
estimating the respective residual values was also changed.

 The changes in the expected useful life and residual value of the vessels constitute a change in estimates. 
The effects of the change were applied prospectively from July 2013.

 The effects of these changes on depreciation expense in the current year and future years are as follows:

2013 2014 to 2015 2016 onwards
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Increase/(Decrease) in depreciation expense (1,537) (6,148) 39,322

Impairment assessment of vessels

Impairment loss is recognised when events and circumstances indicate that the vessel may be impaired and the carrying 
amount of the vessel exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount for each vessel is determined based on 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use calculation.

The fair value is determined based on valuation report from independent shipbrokers. The valuation of vessels was prepared 
assuming a sale between a willing seller and a willing buyer on a charter-free basis.

The recoverable amount of the Group’s vessels is determined based on value-in-use calculation.

Impairment assessment for 2013 resulted in recognition of impairment loss amounting to US$43,408,000 (2012:Nil)

Vessels leased on a bareboat charter basis under operating lease arrangements

Except for bareboat charters with rentals based on market rates, the value-in-use calculation uses cash flow projections 
based on the contractual cash flows over the period of the base lease term and projected residual value, discounted at 
pre-tax rates, ranging from 3.5% to 7.2% which reflect the specific risks relating to each vessel.

Arising from a reassessment of the residual value, the impairment assessment exercise at the year-end resulted in a 
recognition of impairment loss amounting to US$6,215,000 (2012: Nil) on the two container vessels bareboat chartered 
to Evergreen. The Group does not consider the rest of the other 12 vessels leased on a bareboat charter basis (2012: 18 
vessels) to be impaired.
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Vessels deployed on time charter, pool arrangement and bareboat charters with rentals based on market rates

The value-in-use calculation uses projected cash flows over the remaining useful life of each vessel. The pre-tax discount 
rate of 7.76% (2012: 7.76%) takes into account the time value of money and the risks specific to the vessels’ estimated cash 
flows. The projected cash inflows are based on inflation-adjusted daily rates from observable historical trends and forecasted 
rates by independent third parties, under a one-year time charter arrangement for vessels of similar specifications. In the 
value-in-use calculation for 2013, the Group has also adjusted the projected cash flow with management’s assessment of 
the achievable cash flows based on recent performance of the vessels, as well as the age of the vessels. The projected 
cash outflows also take into account vessels’ projected operating expenses. The residual value of each vessel is determined 
based on the average scrap steel price per light deadweight tonne in recent years. 

During the year, the bareboat charterer (Omni Ships Pte Ltd) of two dry-bulk vessels, Stella Fomalhaut and FSL Durban 
defaulted and the vessels were deployed by the Group on short term time charter arrangement at rentals lower than 
previous bareboat arrangement. As at 31 December 2013, the Group was at the initial stage of negotiations for disposal of 
these two vessels to an external party. Subsequent to the year-end, the disposal was completed for a cash consideration 
of US$23,550,000 before commission and transaction costs. Accordingly, value-in-use of these two vessels was re-
estimated based on net disposal proceeds resulting in recognition of impairment losses .

The Group also recorded impairment losses on its oil tankers in view of the default by a lessee (Geden Lines) of two 
bareboat charter arrangements and an adjustment to the management’s assessment of future cash flows due to the recent 
performance of the vessels and the reduced earnings potential of tankers as they get older.

For vessels not on fixed bareboat rental arrangement, a total impairment loss of US$37,193,000 (2012: Nil) was recorded 
in the consolidated income statement for year 2013.

5 SUBSIDIARIES
Trust

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Equity investments, at cost 121,981 121,981
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 362,071 401,272
Impairment loss recognised (4,302) –

479,750 523,253
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Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
Incorporation

Effective equity held
by the Group

2013 2012
% %

FSL-1, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-2, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-3, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-4, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-5, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-6, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-7, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-8, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-9 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-10 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-11 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-12 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-13 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-14, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-15, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-16, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-18 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-19 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-20, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-21, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-22, Inc. Marshall Islands 100 100
FSL-23 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-24 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-25 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL-26 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100
FSL Netherlands B.V. Netherlands 100 100

KPMG LLP, Singapore are the auditors for all of the Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries. No statutory audit is required for 
subsidiaries incorporated in Marshall Islands and in Netherlands under the laws of incorporation.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free. As the amounts are, in substance, part of the Trust’s 
net investments in the subsidiaries, they are included as interests in subsidiaries and stated at cost less impairment losses.

All of the Singapore-flagged vessel-owning subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements, as required 
under Regulation 5 of the Merchant Shipping (Registry of Ships) Regulations, which have been complied with.

In view of impairment losses recorded on vessels owned by the subsidiaries, the Trust re-assessed the recoverable amounts 
of its investments in subsidiaries and recorded an impairment loss of US$4,302,000 (2012:Nil). The recoverable amounts 
of investments in subsidiaries are estimated using the value in use of the vessels owned by the subsidiaries (Refer to note 
4) and the net carrying amounts of other monetary assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries.
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6 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Group 

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Non-current
Available-for-sale financial assets: Equity securities 4,550 5,637

Available-for-sale financial assets relate to the shares in TORM of 2.5% received by the Group as part of an agreement to 
permanently amend the terms on its two charter contracts. 

7 DERIVATIVE ASSETS
Group and Trust

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Non-current 233 47
Current – 185

233 185

The derivative assets relate to the cumulative fair value change of hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges. 

The following are the estimated contractual undiscounted cash inflows of derivatives:

Carrying amount Cash flows
Contractual 
cash flows Within 1 year

Within
1 to 5 years

Group and Trust US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013
Derivative financial assets
Cross currency swap contracts used for hedging
- inflows 233 233 – 233

2012
Derivative financial assets
Cross currency swap contracts used for hedging
- inflows 232 233 185 48

8 INVENTORIES
Group Trust

2013 2012 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Consumable stores – at cost 1,185 519 – –
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group Trust

2013 2012 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other receivables 4,397 1,863 32 44
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 63,931 85,624
Trade receivables – 956 – –
Loans and receivables 4,397 2,819 63,963 85,668
Prepayments 927 723 176 170

5,324 3,542 64,139 85,838

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. There is no allowance for 
doubtful debts arising from the outstanding balances.

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Past due 1 – 30 days – 956

No impairment allowance is necessary for trade receivables, including the past due receivables as there are no indications 
from customers on their inability to pay their outstanding balances. 

10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Trust
2013 2012 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Restricted cash 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000
Fixed deposits with financial institutions 2,868 21,765 93 18,996
Cash at bank 7,499 5,723 1,998 608
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of 

Financial Position 20,367 37,488 12,091 29,604
Less: Restricted cash (10,000) (10,000) (10,000) (10,000)
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated 

Statement of Cash Flows 10,367 27,488 2,091 19,604

In connection with the temporary relaxation of two loan covenants under the term loan facility, a deposit of US$10,000,000 
(2012: US$10,000,000) was placed with the security agent of the term loan facility (see note 13).

The weighted average effective interest rate relating to fixed deposits at the reporting date for the Group and Trust is 0.23% 
(2012: 0.31%) per annum. Interest rates reprice at intervals within 3 months.

All the cash and cash equivalents are primarily denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities.
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11 UNITS IN ISSUE
Group and Trust

2013 2012
Number of 

units
Number of 

units
’000 ’000

Fully paid units:
At 1 January and 31 December 654,665 654,665

Capital management

The Trustee-Manager defines “capital” to include funds raised through the issuance of units, revenue reserves and 
proceeds raised from debt facilities. The Trustee-Manager’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the Trust. The Trustee-Manager monitors the 
distribution per unit, which is the annualised distribution to unitholders divided by total number of units.

The cash flows from the operating activities of the Trust are sufficient to fund the anticipated debt service, quarterly 
distributions to unitholders, payments to Trustee-Manager and working capital requirements. To the extent that financing 
for additional vessels is required, additional equity or debt securities may be issued or additional secured borrowings may 
be incurred.

There were no changes in the Trust’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Trust is not subject to externally or regulatory imposed capital requirements.

12  RESERVES
Group Trust

2013 2012 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Hedging reserve (3,888) (12,299) (3,888) (12,299)
Foreign currency translation reserve (1,425) (2,420) – –
Fair value reserve 1,723 (2,488) – –
Accumulated losses (256,186) (190,973) (347,944) (317,619)

(259,776) (208,180) (351,832) (329,918)

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments until they are derecognised or impaired.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises:

(a) foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations whose 
functional currencies are different from the functional currency of the Trust; and

(b) foreign exchange differences on monetary items which form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations.

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until the 
investments are derecognised or impaired.

The accumulated losses were arrived after deduction of distributions to unitholders. Under the Singapore Business Trusts 
Act, the distribution to unitholders is allowed even when the cumulative distributions were in excess of the cumulative 
accounting profits recorded.
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13 BANK LOANS AND DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES
Group and Trust

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Secured bank loans
Non-current – 386,218
Current 377,492 44,000

377,492 430,218
Derivative liabilities
Non-current 727 4,492
Current 3,394 8,039

4,121 12,531

The Trustee-Manager, on behalf of the Trust, secured a 6-year amortising term loan facility in 2011. As at 31 December 
2013, outstanding face value of the loan balance was US$381,558,000 (2012: US$435,558,000) 

Under the term loan facility, the Trust will make quarterly loan repayments of US$11,000,000 (2012: US$11,000,000) and 
a lump sum repayment on maturity date.

The term loan facility is secured on the following:

(i) a first priority mortgage over the Group’s vessels in the portfolio;

(ii) a first priority assignment of the Group’s rights, title, interest in the insurances to and for each vessel, including 
insurance for hull and machinery, protection and indemnity and war risks; 

(iii) a first priority assignment of the Group’s rights, title and interest in and to the charter agreements and the charter 
income of each vessel; and

(iv) a pledge over the Group’s shares in TORM. 

In June 2012, the Trustee-Manager secured a temporary relaxation of two loan covenants from the lenders for 12 months 
until 30 June 2013 (“Relaxation Period”). The affected covenants were as follows:

Covenant Prior to relaxation After relaxation

VTL ratio 125% 100%
Debt service coverage ratio At least 1.1 : 1 At least 1:1

The Trust obtained the lenders’ agreement to grant the extension of the relaxation period as of 1 July 2013 until 31 
December 2013 subject to a lump sum payment of US$10,000,000, which was made in June 2013, and compliance with 
other conditions by stipulated deadlines.

As FSL Trust did not fully comply with the relaxed covenants as at 31 December 2013, the entire bank loan may have 
been called for repayment at any time upon notification by the lenders. Accordingly, this loan balance was classified within 
current liabilities giving rise to the deficiency in net current assets, amounting to US$364,377,000 as at 31 December 2013.
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13 BANK LOANS AND DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

In February 2014, the lenders agreed to grant a loan covenant relaxation extension until 31 December 2014 (“Relaxation 
extension”), with the following additional conditions to be adhered to during the Relaxation extension:

i) a cash sweep mechanism whereby if cash balances are over US$20 million for two consecutive quarters (say 
Quarter 1 and Quarter 2), the lesser of i) Quarter 1 cash balance less US$20 million, or ii) Quarter 2 cash balance 
less US$20 million, will be immediately applied against settlement of the loan outstanding. The cash sweep only 
applies until the end of the relaxation period or when VTL reaches up to 125%, whichever is earlier;

ii) an upfront fee of 5bps on the loan outstanding; and
iii) Pledge of the shares of all the vessel-owning subsidiaries.

The relaxed covenants are as follow:

Covenants
During Relaxation extension

1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014

VTL ratio 105% 105% 110% 110%
Debt Service Coverage ratio at least 0.90:1 at least 0.95:1 at least 1.00:1 at least 1.10:1

Other conditions imposed during the period of Relaxation extension include the retention of a US$10 million security 
deposit with the security agent, and a levy of 2% per annum imposed on the shortfall amount. The shortfall amount is the 
difference between the outstanding loan balance and the theoretical loan balance assuming VTL ratio is 125%.

The Relaxation extension has yet to be executed by the lenders as at the date of this report. 

Terms and debt repayment schedule

The interest margin on the term loan facility is as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

VTL ratio
Margin over US$ 3-month 

LIBOR VTL ratio
Margin over US$ 3-month 

LIBOR

>100% to 140% 3.0% >100% to 140% 3.0%
>140% to 180% 2.8% >140% to 180% 2.8%
>180% 2.6% >180% 2.6%

As at 31 December 2013, the applicable margin over US$3-month LIBOR was 3% (2012: 3.0%). The VTL ratio will be 
assessed semi-annually.

The terms and conditions of the term loan facility are as follows:

Group and Trust Nominal interest rate Year of maturity
Face
value

Carrying 
amount

US$’000 US$’000

2013
US$ floating rate loans US$ 3-month 

LIBOR + applicable margin 
2017 381,558* 377,492

2012
US$ floating rate loans US$ 3-month 

LIBOR + applicable margin 
2017 435,558* 430,218

* Before the deduction of unamortised debt transaction costs of US$4,065,000.
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13 BANK LOANS AND DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows, including interest payments and excluding the 
impact of netting agreements:

Carrying
amount Cash flows

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 
1 year

Within  
1 to 5 years

After 
5 years

Group and Trust US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013
Non-derivative financial liabilities
US$ floating rate loans^ 377,492 (444,418) (57,186) (387,232) –

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
US$ floating rate loans^ 430,440 (499,728) (58,966) (440,762) –

^ Inclusive of accrued interest as at the reporting date.

The derivative financial liabilities relate to the cumulative fair value change of hedged instruments designated as cash flow 
hedges. The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of derivatives:

Carrying 
amount Cash flows

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 
1 year

Within  
1 to 5 years

Group and Trust US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps used for hedging
- outflows 4,121 4,398 3,199 1,199

2012
Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps used for hedging
- outflows 12,531 12,801 8,277 4,524

14 DEFERRED INCOME
Group 

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Non-current
Deferred income 5,011 6,455

Current
Deferred income 1,444 1,444

Deferred income is recognised on the Statement of Financial Position upon the receipt of shares in TORM by the Group and 
is amortised to the Income Statement over the remaining lease term on the TORM charter contracts. 
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15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group Trust

2013 2012 2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables 1,722 181 282 34
Accrued financing expenses 500 444 500 444
Accrued operating expenses 4,113 2,600 238 197

Lease income received in advance 2,588 2,903 – –
Other payables – 909 – 9

8,923 7,037 1,020 684

The following are the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows, excluding the impact of netting agreements:

Carrying 
amount Cash flows

Contractual 
cash flows

Within
1 year

Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 5,835 (5,835) (5,835)

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 3,690 (3,690) (3,690)

Trust

2013
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 520 (520) (520)

2012
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 240 (240) (240)
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16 REVENUE
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Bareboat charter lease income 60,681 76,347
Freight income 4,765 18,996
Time charter income 11,992 4,834
Pool income 12,555 5,930

89,993 106,107

Bareboat charter lease income relates to lease income derived from operating leases. Included in bareboat charter lease 
income, US$1,444,000 (2012: US$225,000) relates to recognition of the deferred income in the income statement for the 
year (see note 14).

Freight income relates to income derived by FSL	Hong	Kong	in the spot market following its redelivery back to the Trust on 
4 July 2013. In the prior year, freight income relates to income derived from (i) two product tankers, FSL	Hamburg and FSL	
Singapore, before the commencement of time charter arrangements with Petrobras.
 
Time charter income relates to income derived from two vessels, FSL	Singapore and FSL	Hamburg, deployed on time 
charter with Petrobras and the deployment of FSL	 Shanghai on a short term time charter arrangement following its 
redelivery back to the Trust on 15 July 2013. Following the lease default by Omni Ships, the two dry bulk carriers Stella	
Fomalhaut and	FSL	Durban	were deployed on short term time charter arrangement following its redelivery back to the Trust 
in October 2013.

Pool income relates to income substantially derived from three chemical tankers, FSL	New	York, FSL	London and FSL	
Tokyo, deployed on pool arrangement. On 10 December 2013, FSL	Hong	Kong was redeployed on a Revenue Sharing 
Agreement (“RSA”), which is similar to pool arrangement, to secure more stable earnings for the Trust.

17 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Recognised in the income statement
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 63 124
Finance income 63 124

Interest expense:
- bank loans 23,467 26,218
- amortisation of debt transaction costs 1,477 1,597
- commitment and bank agency fees 59 59
Net foreign exchange gain (375) (92)
Finance expenses 24,628 27,782

Net finance expenses recognised in income statement (24,565) (27,658)
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18 LOSS BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before tax:
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Audit fees paid/payable to auditors of the Trust 114 110
Non-audit fees paid/payable to:
- auditors of the Trust* 150 142
- other auditors 17 60
Amortisation of initial direct costs 568 633

* Inclusive of review fees on quarterly results.

19 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Current tax expense
Current year 20 18
Over-provision in prior year – (9)

20 9

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Loss before income tax (65,193) (8,378)

Tax calculated using Singapore tax rate of 17% (11,083) (1,424)
Effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdiction 13 7
Exempt shipping activities 11,090 1,435
Over-provision in prior year – (9)

20 9
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20 INCOME AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Income available for distribution to unitholders at the beginning of the year – 655

Loss for the year (65,213) (8,387)
Net adjustments (Note A) 65,213 9,041
Income available for distribution – 654

For the period from 1 October 2011 to 31 December 2011
- Distribution of US0.10 cents per unit (tax-exempt income) – (655)
For the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 March 2012
- Distribution of US0.10 cents per unit (tax-exempt income) – (654)

– (1,309)
Income available for distribution to unitholders at the 

end of the year – –

Arising from the temporary relaxation of two loan covenants under the term loan facility (see note 13), the Trust is restricted 
from paying any distributions to unitholders for 12 months until 31 December 2014.

Note A Group

2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Net adjustments comprise:

Non-cash adjustments:
- Depreciation expense on vessels 54,180 56,893
- Amortisation of initial direct costs 568 72
- Amortisation of deferred income (1,444) (225)
- Unrealised foreign exchange gain (417) (126)
- Impairment loss on vessels  43,408 –
- Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset 5,298 –
- Others – (375)

101,593 56,239
Repayment of secured bank loans (54,000) (44,000)
Utilisation of cash retained from previous periods 17,620 –
Amount not available for distribution – (3,198)
Net adjustments 65,213 9,041
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21 EARNINGS PER UNIT
Group

2013 2012
US$’000 US$’000

Basic and diluted earnings per unit is based on:
Loss for the year (65,213) (8,387)

Number of units
’000 ’000

Issued units at beginning of the year 654,665 654,665
Effect of units issued – –
Weighted average number of units at the end of the year 654,665 654,665

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 Overview

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risks. 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate and foreign currency risk exposures. The Group 
does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Management uses natural hedges or closely monitors the Group’s business risk exposures in connection with its financial 
assets and financial liabilities and adopts the appropriate measures including the use of other financial instruments when 
considered necessary to reduce any potential financial risk exposures or losses.

 Credit risk

As part of the Trustee-Manager’s due diligence activities and prior to the completion of a lease transaction, each new lessee 
is analysed individually for creditworthiness. The Trustee-Manager then incorporates the results from its due diligence 
activities into a risk-adjusted pricing model. This model incorporates a credit loss component which takes into account the 
likelihood of default, the level of recoverability following a default and the credit exposure at the time of default.

Upon the completion of a lease transaction, the Trustee-Manager conducts on-going credit reviews annually or semi-
annually to monitor each lessee’s financial performance and compliance with financial covenants (if any). In addition, the 
payment conduct of a lessee is monitored on a monthly basis.

The Group’s credit risk is concentrated in lessees in the shipping industry; and the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk in the event that counterparties fail to perform their obligations as of 31 December 2013 in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Statements of Financial Position.

The Group does not expect to incur material credit losses on its financial assets. Cash and cash equivalents are placed 
with financial institutions which are regulated.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 30 
days, including the servicing of financial obligations. When applicable, the Group also ensures that it has sufficient cash 
for quarterly distributions to its unitholders. As at the reporting date, there were no outstanding commitments for any 
acquisition of vessels.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by US$364,377,000 (2012: 
US$18,804,000). However, in view of estimated cash flows from operations over the next 12 months, the Trustee-Manager 
expects the Group to pay its liabilities as and when they fall due.

 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices, will 
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is 
to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters.

 Interest rate risk

The Trustee-Manager, on behalf of the Trust, reviews any unhedged exposures periodically and will consider hedging them 
after taking into consideration the prevailing interest rate environment.  

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has interest rate swaps with a total notional contract amount of US187,459,000 
(2012: US$224,040,000), whereby it pays fixed interest rates ranging from 1.06% per annum to 5.24% per annum and 
receives a variable rate equal to US$ 3-month LIBOR. The Trust classifies these interest rate swaps as hedging instruments 
under the cash flow hedge model.

The fair value of these interest rate swaps as at 31 December 2013 is US$4,121,000 (2012: US$12,531,000). This amount 
is recognised as derivative liabilities.

Sensitivity	analysis

With respect to the interest rate swaps (designated as hedging instruments under cash flow hedge model), variable rate 
bank loans and certain floating rate lease agreements, a change of 50 bp in interest rate at the reporting date would 
increase (decrease) other comprehensive income and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables remain constant.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Other comprehensive income Profit or loss

50 bp 
increase

50 bp 
decrease

50 bp 
increase

50 bp 
decrease

Group and Trust US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2013
Variable rate bank loans – – (2,095) 2,095
Interest rate swaps 1,664 (1,446) 1,069 (1,069)

1,664 (1,446) (1,026) 1,026
Floating rate lease income – – 597 (597)

1,664 (1,446) (429) 429

31 December 2012
Variable rate bank loans – – (2,351) 2,351
Interest rate swaps 3,433 (2,999) 1,002 (1,002)

3,433 (2,999) (1,349) 1,349
Floating rate lease income – – 631 (631)

3,433 (2,999) (718) 718

The Group has entered into two floating rate lease arrangements (“host contracts”) which are pegged to the US$ 3-month 
LIBOR (“embedded derivatives”). These arrangements provide an economic hedge against the interest rate risk exposure 
arising from the respective loans relating to these leases.

The Trustee-Manager considers the economic characteristics and risks of these embedded derivatives to be closely related 
to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contracts. Accordingly, in respect of these embedded derivatives, 
no separate accounting from the host contracts is required as the embedded derivatives are essentially contingent rentals 
based on variable interest rates.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on certain lease income denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the Trust. The currency giving rise to this risk is the Euro.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group hedged 100% of its forecasted lease income denominated in the Euro. The Group 
uses cross currency swap contracts with a total notional contract amount of US$7,108,000 (2012: US$16,387,000), to 
hedge the foreign currency risk associated with its forecasted Euro revenue. The fair value for these cross currency swap 
contracts as at 31 December 2013 is US$233,000 (2012: US$232,000). This amount is recognised as derivative assets.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the US dollar, the Group ensures that the net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates, where necessary, to address 
short term imbalances.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

The Group’s and the Trust’s exposures to foreign currencies are as follows:

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Euro
Singapore 

dollar Euro
Singapore 

dollar
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
Cross currency swap contracts*  

(notional amounts) 7,108 – 16,387 –
Other receivables 36 29 38 19
Cash and cash equivalents 665 24 764 63
Trade and other payables (200) – (49) (54)

Trust
Cross currency swap contracts*  

(notional amounts) 7,108 – 16,387 –
Other receivables – 28 – 16
Cash and cash equivalents 110 24 200 63
Trade payables – (128) – (33)

* Designated as hedging instruments under cash flow hedge model.

Sensitivity	analysis

A 10% strengthening of US dollar against the following currencies at the reporting date would increase (decrease) other 
comprehensive income and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant.

Group Trust
Other 

comprehensive 
income

Profit or 
loss

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Profit or 

loss
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2013
Euro 957 (55) 957 (12)
Singapore dollar – (4) – 8

31 December 2012
Euro 1,695 (83) 1,695 (22)
Singapore dollar – (3) – (5)

A 10% weakening of US dollar against the following currencies at the reporting date would increase (decrease) other 
comprehensive income and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Group Trust

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit or 

loss

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Profit or 

loss
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2013
Euro (504) 55 (504) 12
Singapore dollar – 4 - (8)

31 December 2012
Euro (1,523) 83 (1,523) 22
Singapore dollar – 3 – 5

 Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk on its available-for-sale equity securities. 

Sensitivity	analysis

A 5% increase (decrease) in the share price of TORM shares at the reporting date would increase (decrease) the Group’s 
other comprehensive income by US$227,000 (2012: US$282,000). This analysis assumes that all other variables remain 
constant.

 Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments 
of the Group and the Trust.

Derivatives

The fair value of derivative instruments is based on broker’s quotes, calculated by reference to current forward exchange 
rates and interest rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles, and discounting the estimated future cash flows based 
on the terms and maturity of each contract.

Non-derivative	financial	liabilities

The Group believes that the carrying amount of the variable rate bank loans, which are repriced on a quarterly basis, closely 
reflects the corresponding fair values.

Available-for-sale equity securities

The fair value of available-for-sale equity securities is calculated by reference to quoted share price listed on a stock 
exchange.

Other financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other payables) approximate their fair values because of the short 
period to maturity.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

 Interest rates used in determining fair values

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on US$ yield curve and Euro yield 
curve at the reporting date for interest rate swaps and cross currency swap contracts respectively, and were as follows:

2013 2012
% %

Derivatives 0.11 to 1.08 0.18 to 0.74

Carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities

The following table summarises the carrying amount of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities recorded at the end of 
the reporting period by IAS 39 categories:

Group Trust

Loan and 
receivables

Available- 
for-sale 

Financial 
liabilities 

at amortised 
cost

Loan and 
receivables

Financial 
liabilities 

at amortised 
cost

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2013
Trade and other receivables 4,397 – – 63,963 –
Cash and cash equivalents 20,367 – – 12,091 –
Available-for-sale financial 

assets: Equity securities – 4,550 – – –
Trade and other payables – – 8,923 – 1,019
Secured bank loans – – 377,492 – 377,492

24,764 4,550 386,415 76,054 378,511

2012
Trade and other receivables 2,819 – – 85,668 –
Cash and cash equivalents 37,488 – – 29,604 –
Available-for-sale financial 

assets: Equity securities – 5,637 – – –
Trade and other payables – – 7,037 – 684
Secured bank loans – – 430,218 – 430,218

40,307 5,637 437,255 115,272 430,902

Derivative financial assets and liabilities disclosed on the balance sheet are categorised as cash flow hedging instruments.

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The different levels have been 
defined as follows:

· Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

· Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

· Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 December 2013
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets: Equity securities 4,550 – – 4,550
Derivative assets – 233 – 233

4,550 233 – 4,783

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – 4,121 – 4,121

Trust

31 December 2013
Assets
Derivative assets – 233 – 233

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – 4,121 – 4,121

Group

31 December 2012
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets: Equity securities 5,637 – – 5,637
Derivative assets – 232 – 232

5,637 232 – 5,869

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – 12,531 – 12,531

Trust

31 December 2012
Assets
Derivative assets – 232 – 232

Liabilities
Derivative liabilities – 12,531 – 12,531

The above excludes financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts measured on the amortised cost basis 
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature and where the effect of discount is immaterial. 
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23 COMMITMENTS

The non-cancellable operating lease rentals receivable are as follows:

Group
2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Within 1 year 56,832 75,852
After 1 year but within 5 years 113,755 216,275
After 5 years 30,838 59,170

201,425 351,297

Operating lease-Bareboat charter

The rental rates of lease arrangements are fixed over the base lease term. The base lease terms under these non-cancellable 
leases range from nine to twelve years (2012: nine to twelve). In nine lease agreements (2012: nine lease agreements) held 
by the Group, the lessees have the options to extend the lease period beyond the base lease period up to ten years. The 
lessees have the option to purchase the related vessels in 14 lease agreements.

Operating lease-Time charter

There are 2 time charter lease arrangements (2012: two) and the rental rates are fixed over the base lease term of three 
years.

The figures disclosed above exclude two lease agreements with rentals based on market rates as it is impracticable to 
determine the committed rentals.

24 RELATED PARTIES

The Trustee-Manager is a subsidiary of a substantial unitholder of the Trust. Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements, significant transactions with related parties are as follows:

Group
2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Transactions with the Trustee-Manager:
 Management fees 2,794 3,365
 Trustee fees 149 160
Transactions with other related parties:
 Directors’ fees paid to non-executive directors 193 201
 Lease rentals received from Schoeller Holdings Ltd* 6,235 6,051
 Inspection fees paid to Columbia Shipmanagement Ltd* 78 120
 Commission paid to Columbia Shipmanagement Ltd* 64 80
 Shipmanagement fee paid to Columbia Shipmanagement (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.* 707 545
 Commission paid to United Product Tankers* 139 223

* Related parties of a unitholder who holds 24% of the Trust’s issued units as at 31 December 2013.

No separate consideration is paid to the Trustee-Manager (other than the fees disclosed above) for services rendered by 
the executive directors.
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25 SEGMENT INFORMATION

No operating segment information has been prepared as the Group has only one reportable segment. With respect to the 
presentation of geographical information, the Group deals with several lessees and the vessels are deployed to various 
parts of the world at the discretion and direction of these lessees. Accordingly, the Trustee-Manager does not consider it 
meaningful to allocate revenues and non-current assets to specific geographical areas.

Major customers

Each of the following customers accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue in 2013 and/or 2012:

Group
2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000

Yang Ming Marine 20,055 20,055
James Fisher 11,927 11,731
Evergreen Marine 11,696 11,696
Geden Lines - 11,985

43,678 55,467



7574

Annual Report 2013

First Ship Lease Trust (“FSL Trust”) is a business trust constituted under the Business Trusts Act. FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. 
(“FSLTM”) as trustee-manager of FSL Trust, is responsible for managing the business of FSL Trust. This includes the trust property 
as defined in the Deed of Trust dated 19 March 2007, as amended and supplemented from time to time, safeguarding the interests 
of unitholders as a whole and ensuring and upholding high governance standards. FSLTM is fully committed to this responsibility 
in all its dealings with regard to FSL Trust. 

This report sets out the corporate governance practices in place for financial year 2013 with reference to the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012 (“the Code”) and Business Trusts Regulations 2005.

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS

The principal functions of the Board of Directors include guiding the corporate strategy and directions of management, reviewing the 
budget and all business plans, approving all acquisitions and borrowings, monitoring the financial and non-financial performance 
of FSL Trust, putting in place all relevant internal controls and risk management processes and overseeing the management of 
FSL Trust.

The Board has delegated and outsourced the day-to-day operations to FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. which is led by Alan 
Hatton (Director and Chief Executive Officer) and assisted by Roger Woods (Chief Operating Officer). The Board is also assisted by 
the Audit Committee. Certain key matters are reserved for the Board’s approval, such as vessel acquisition and divestment, and 
capital expenditure and commitments on loan and credit facilities. 

The Board meets at least once every quarter to approve the quarterly and full-year results prior to the release of the results and 
to deal with all matters requiring consideration. As and when necessary, board meetings are also supplemented by resolutions 
circulated to directors for decisions. 

The attendance of the directors at the Board and Audit Committee meetings for 2013 is set out below:

Board Audit Committee 

Directors
Attendance /  

No. of Meetings held
Attendance /  

No. of Meetings held

Alan Hatton(1) 2/2 NA
Tim Reid(2) 5/5 NA
Simon Davidson(3) 5/5 2/2
Michael Oliver(4) 4/5 2/2
Michael J. Montesano 8/8 5/5
Wong Meng Meng(5) 4/4 3/3
Philip Clausius(5) 5/5 NA
Cheong Chee Tham(5) 5/5 NA
Phang Thim Fatt(5) 4/4 3/3

NA: Not Applicable

(1) Alan Hatton was appointed as a Director and the CEO on 27 August 2013.
(2)  Tim Reid was appointed as a Director on 17 June 2013.
(3) Simon Davidson was appointed as a Director on 17 June 2013 and a member of the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013.
(4) Michael Oliver was appointed as a Director on 26 June 2013 and as a member of the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013.
(5) Messrs Wong Meng Meng, Philip Clausius, Cheong Chee Tham and Phang Thim Fatt departed as Directors in June 2013.

To enable directors to fully discharge their duties and obligations, directors have been furnished with a legal and compliance 
regulatory manual prepared by professional advisers. As and when necessary, they have also been provided with updates on 
relevant practices, new laws, rules and regulations, changes in accounting standards and risk management issues applicable to 
FSL Trust or FSLTM, including briefings by relevant professionals. The directors will participate in relevant training programs to be 
funded by FSLTM. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

The composition of the Board of FSLTM is determined using the following principles:

(i) The majority of Board members should be non-executive and independent directors;

(ii) The chairman of the Board should be a non-executive director;

(iii) The Board should comprise directors with a wide range of commercial and management experience; and

(iv) At least a majority of the directors should be independent from management and business relationships with FSLTM and 
from every substantial shareholder of FSLTM.

The Board comprises five directors, three of whom are independent and non-executive. Simon Davidson is the Lead Independent 
Director. The directors come from diverse backgrounds with expertise in the shipping industry, finance, legal, business and 
management fields and are able to apply their experience to further the interests of FSL Trust. The Board has the appropriate 
balance of independent directors. The three independent directors are particularly aware of their responsibility to constantly place 
the interests of unitholders as a whole foremost in the consideration of all relevant matters. The composition of the Board will 
be reviewed periodically to ensure that the Board comprises an appropriate mix of expertise and experience to best serve the 
interests of FSL Trust and all of its unitholders.

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR/CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board is Tim Reid. Simon Davidson is the deputy Chairman. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) is Alan Hatton. 
The Chairman, the deputy Chairman and the CEO are not related to one another. The Chairman and the CEO have separate and 
distinct roles resulting in an effective balance of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible for the effective functioning of the 
Board in the interests of unitholders as a whole. Board meetings are helmed by the Chairman and there is a culture of openness 
and debate and all directors are given ample opportunity and time to express their views. Where necessary, the independent 
directors will hold discussions separately without the presence of the other directors. The Lead Independent Director will lead 
these discussions. The CEO continues to have full executive responsibility over the business direction and operational decisions in 
the day-to-day operations and management of FSLTM, as trustee-manager. In the absence of the Chairman or if there is a conflict 
of interest, the deputy Chairman who is also the Lead Independent Director, will assume the role of Chairman.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

The majority of the Board consists of independent non-executive directors. Four Directors were appointed during the last financial 
year. The Board takes into consideration its size, experience and overall competency and expertise to determine if the Board is 
effective. The Board is satisfied that the directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of FSL Trust and FSLTM. 
Where the Directors have multiple directorships and/or other principal commitments, the Board has considered and is satisfied 
that each of them is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a director of the Company. From time to time, new 
directors may be identified for appointment if necessary to complement the experience and competency of the existing members 
of the Board. New directors appointed in 2013 were briefed on FSL Trust’s business and governance practices. 

As a Lead Independent Director, Simon Davidson leads and co-ordinates the activities of the independent directors. He is the 
principal liaison on board issues between the Independent Directors and the Chairman.

Directors’ Independence

The Board has conducted an annual review of the directors’ independence in accordance with the requirements of the Business 
Trusts Regulations 2005. The following directors, Simon Davidson, Michael Oliver and Michael J. Montesano are:

(a) Independent from management and business relationships with FSLTM (“Trustee-Manager”);

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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(b) Independent from management and business relationships with FSLTM and from every substantial shareholder of FSLTM; 
and

(c) Independent from every substantial shareholder of FSLTM.

FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd., the sole shareholder of FSLTM, is the service provider of management services to FSLTM. 

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Based on objective performance criteria, the Board evaluated its performance. The Directors had the opportunity to gauge their 
effectiveness individually, collectively and identify areas of improvement.  

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided with relevant information before or at each meeting to enable them to be properly informed of matters to be 
discussed or approved and to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities as directors. 
Directors are entitled to request for additional information as needed. In addition, quarterly and full-year financial statements 
are submitted to the Board for approval prior to release to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Ltd (“SGX”). Directors 
have separate and independent access to management and the company secretary at all times. The external auditors are also 
available on-hand to provide additional insight when financial statements are considered. Directors may seek further independent 
professional advice, if required, to allow directors to fulfill their duties properly, and such expenses will be paid by FSLTM.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

The structure for the payment of directors’ fees for independent directors is based on a framework of basic fees for serving on 
Board committees and is approved by the shareholder of FSLTM. All directors’ fees payable to the independent directors in 
respect of services rendered to FSLTM will be reimbursed by FSL Trust. The fees are payable out of the trust property, as provided 
for in the Deed of Trust dated 19 March 2007 as amended and supplemented from time to time. The non-independent executive 
director is not paid any director’s fees and the remuneration payable to the non-independent non-executive director is paid by FSL 
Asset Management Pte. Ltd who will charge the same to FSLTM and not FSL Trust. As the remuneration of the non-independent 
directors and management are paid for separately by FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. and are not paid for by FSL Trust, details 
of such remuneration packages will not be disclosed.

The directors’ fees paid/payable to directors are set out below:

Directors  Remuneration

Simon Davidson S$36,750
Michael Oliver  S$42,000
Michael J. Montesano S$73,500
Wong Meng Meng S$47,250
Phang Thim Fatt S$42,000

No compensation is payable to any director or officer in the form of options in FSL Trust units or pursuant to any bonus or profit-
sharing plan or any other profit-linked agreement or arrangement under any service agreement. 

During the financial year 2013, no officer was an immediate family member of any director of FSLTM.

The fees payable to FSLTM are set out in the Deed of Trust dated 19 March 2007 as amended and supplemented from time to 
time. The fees payable are the management fees, trustee fees, incentive fees, acquisition fees and disposal fees, which particulars 
are detailed in note 1 to the financial statements of this annual report. The fees paid to FSLTM in financial year 2013 are set out 
in note 24 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. was constituted in 2010 as the resource centre for the FSL group of companies. Pursuant to a 
management services agreement between FSLTM and FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd., FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (also 
the sole shareholder of FSLTM) provides FSLTM all agreed management services, including the services of the Chief Executive 
Officer and other management personnel and staff. FSLTM is charged and bears the cost of management services rendered to it 
by FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. This is determined according to a market-based benchmarked formula.   

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board, through its quarterly and full-year results, announcements and press releases, aims to provide a balanced and 
understandable assessment of FSL Trust’s performance and prospects. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) are the three independent directors, Michael Oliver, Simon Davidson and Michael J. 
Montesano and the AC is chaired by Michael Oliver. 

The responsibilities of the AC include the following:

(i) To review the financial statements; 

(ii) To monitor and evaluate the quality and reliability of information prepared for inclusion in financial statements;

(iii) To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of FSLTM’s internal controls;

(iv) To nominate the external auditors;

(v) To review the external audit plan and the adequacy of external audit in respect of cost, scope and performance;

(vi) To review external audit reports to ensure that where deficiencies in risk management and internal controls have been 
identified, appropriate and prompt remedial action is taken by management;

(vii) To monitor the procedures in place to achieve compliance with applicable legislation, the Listing Manual and the Business 
Trusts Act;

(viii) To monitor the procedures established to regulate interested person transactions, including ensuring compliance with the 
provisions of the Listing Manual and Business Trusts Act in relation to them and to review such interested person transactions; 

(ix) To review the assistance given by officers of FSLTM to the external auditors; and

(x) To investigate any reports of improprieties or irregularities.

The AC’s activities for 2013, in accordance with its responsibilities and duties, included the following:

(a) Review of the quarterly and full-year financial statements and announcements required by the SGX for recommendation to 
the Board for approval;

(b) Discussion with the external auditors on the audit plan and the report on the audit of the financial statements; review of 
the external auditors’ objectivity and independence; review of the audit fees payable, and making recommendations to the 
Board on the appointment/re-appointment of the external auditors;

(c) Review of the effectiveness of internal controls, including financial, compliance and risk management controls, to safeguard 
the interests of the unitholders as a whole and the trust property; and

(d) Review of all interested person transactions to ensure compliance with the Listing Manual and the Business Trusts Act.
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The AC is authorised to investigate any matters it deems appropriate within its written terms of reference. The AC has full access 
to and co-operation of management. The AC also has full discretion to invite any director or personnel to attend its meetings, and 
did also meet with the external auditors without the presence of management. The AC has been given all reasonable resources to 
perform its duties. With the assistance of the Auditors, the AC assesses changes in accounting standards and issues that have 
an impact on the financial statements.

The total fees paid to the external auditors for financial year 2013, including fees for audit and non-audit services are set out in note 
18 to the financial statements of this annual report.

The AC has undertaken a review of the fees and expenses paid to the external auditors, including fees paid for non-audit services 
during the period, and is satisfied that the external auditors’ independence have not been compromised. 

FSL Trust has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Listing Manual of SGX. KPMG LLP is a suitable auditing firm to meet FSL 
Trust’s audit obligations as well as those of its Singapore-incorporated subsidiaries held by FSLTM as trustee-manager.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS 

The Board is mindful that it needs to ensure that management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls 
to safeguard the interests of unitholders as a whole and the trust property. 

The Board and the AC have evaluated the internal financial controls and financial and accounting policies and procedures. In the 
course of their audit, the external auditors will also review the risk management and internal controls and may also highlight areas 
where certain aspects of risk management and internal controls could be improved and management will review the suggested 
improvements with a view to implementation where appropriate.   

No system can provide absolute assurance against material errors, human errors, fraud or other irregularities and the internal 
financial controls of FSLTM are designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that trust property is safeguarded, 
accounting records are properly maintained and financial information and records are reliable. These controls are designed with 
the risks of the relevant exposure in mind, the likelihood of it occurring and costs involved to protect against it. 

The Board is of the opinion, with the concurrence of the AC that FSLTM has in place reasonable, adequate and effective risk 
management and internal controls including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls.

The risk management approach can be found on page 24 of this annual report.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the CEO has provided assurance to the Board that the financial records of FSL 
Trust have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the operations and finances and that 
an effective risk management and internal control system has been put in place. 

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

FSLTM has adopted a code of conduct which incorporates the reporting of violation or potential violation of laws, rules and 
regulations to the AC Chairman. The code of conduct not only applies to directors but also to external parties and service 
providers, which would include the employees of FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. 

COMMUNICATION WITH UNITHOLDERS

FSLTM believes in prompt disclosure of pertinent and relevant information to unitholders. Quarterly and full-year financial 
statements, distribution notices (where applicable), information on lease and charter transactions and acquisitions of vessels and 
other material developments are announced through the SGX, press releases and through its website at www.FSLTrust.com. 
Media and analysts’ briefings are held as and when necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The investor relations function is handled by management. Management meets with analysts, institutional investors and fund 
managers regularly to promote FSL Trust, communicate its business performance and developments and gather views and 
feedback. Please refer to the investor relations information on page 25 of this annual report.

Unitholders are entitled to attend and vote at the unitholder meetings and will be given the opportunity to raise questions and 
seek clarifications regarding any resolutions or other business of FSL Trust. The Board and management will be present at such 
unitholder meetings to address questions that unitholders may have.

DEALING IN SECURITIES

FSLTM has adopted an internal code based on the Listing Manual on dealings in securities and FSL Trust, FSLTM directors of 
FSLTM and directors and employees of its holding company have been guided that they should refrain from dealing in units of FSL 
Trust during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of FSL Trust’s quarterly results and one month before 
the announcement of the annual results and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results. 

All directors of FSLTM and directors and employees of its holding company are also informed that they (A) must not deal in (i) the 
units on short-term considerations; (ii) the units while in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information; and (iii) 
the securities of other listed companies while in possession of unpublished material price sensitive information relating to those 
securities; and (B) must be mindful of the laws relating to insider trading.

STATEMENT OF POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

FSLTM has established the following policies and practices in relation to its management and governance:

(a) The trust property of FSL Trust is properly accounted for and trust property is kept distinct from the property of FSLTM held 
in its own capacity and the property of FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (“FSLAM”). Different bank accounts are opened for 
FSLTM in its capacity as trustee-manager of FSL Trust, FSLTM in its own capacity and FSLAM, and regular internal reviews 
are carried out to ascertain that all trust property has been fully accounted for. 

(b) The Board is required to approve all business ventures and acquisitions for FSLTM and FSL Trust. FSLTM remains focused 
on vessel acquisitions with bareboat charters and time charters, which are the approved businesses of FSL Trust as set 
out in the Deed of Trust dated 19 March 2007 as amended and supplemented by the Second Supplemental Deed dated 
6 April 2011. FSLTM has not engaged in other businesses on behalf of FSL Trust. Management provides regular briefings 
to the Board about the potential projects that it is looking into on behalf of FSL Trust and the Board ensures that all such 
projects are within the approved business scope of FSL Trust. 

(c) FSLTM does not currently have other businesses other than that of managing FSL Trust but all potential conflicts, if arising, 
will be identified by the Board and management and reviewed. In addition, the majority of the Board are independent 
directors of FSLTM who do not have management or business relationships with the substantial shareholder of FSLTM 
(namely, FSL Asset Management Pte. Ltd. and FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd.) or the substantial shareholders of FSL Holdings Pte. 
Ltd. and are therefore able to examine any potential conflict between the interests of FSLTM in its own capacity and the 
interests of all unitholders of FSL Trust as a whole, independently and objectively. In respect of matters in which a director 
has an interest, direct or indirect, such interested director will abstain from participating in the review and approval process 
with regard to the matter. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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(d) FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd. has also given two undertakings in favour of FSL Trust not to compete in the businesses of FSL 
Trust, namely, 

(1) the financing lease of shipping assets through long-term bareboat charters for a lease term of seven years or longer, 

(2) for a period of five years from 6 April 2011 (and following the expiry of such period, for such additional period as 
may be agreed between FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd. and FSLTM), (aa) the financing lease of vessels on a bareboat basis 
which have a lease term of less than seven years and (bb) any vessels on a time charter basis (regardless of the 
duration of the charters of such vessels),

save where it has first offered to FSLTM (on behalf of FSL Trust) the opportunity to acquire the charter/lease, together with 
the relevant vessel and FSLTM has declined to acquire such vessel and charter/lease. FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd. will not enter 
into any charter/lease that has first been offered by it to FSLTM (on behalf of FSL Trust). 

As at the date of this annual report, all vessel acquisitions and charter leasing to lessees, subsequent to the initial public 
offering, have been with independent third parties unrelated to FSL Trust, FSLTM, FSLAM. or FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd.

(e) Interested person transactions in relation to FSL Trust have been identified by management and have been fully disclosed 
on page 86 of this annual report. The Audit Committee conducts an annual review of all such transactions to determine if 
such transactions have been undertaken on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of FSL Trust 
and the unitholders as a whole. In addition, all such interested person transactions conducted and any contract entered 
into by FSLTM on behalf of FSL Trust with a related party of FSLTM or FSL Trust, shall comply with and be in accordance 
with all applicable requirements of the Listing Manual and the Business Trusts Act as well as such other guidelines as may 
from time to time be prescribed to apply to business trusts. 

(f) The expenses payable to FSLTM in its capacity as trustee-manager of FSL Trust out of trust property are appropriate and 
in accordance with the Deed of Trust dated 19 March 2007 as amended and supplemented, and regular internal reviews 
are carried out to ensure that such expenses payable are in order. 

(g) FSLTM has engaged the services of and obtained advice from professional advisers and consultants from time to 
time, particularly with regard to transactions on vessel acquisitions and facility borrowings, and has complied with the 
requirements of the Business Trusts Act and the Listing Manual.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Vessel Lessee
Lease 

Commencement
Lease Term +

Extension, if any (yrs)

Daily Bareboat 
Charter Rate 

(Net)1

Lease Extension 
Charter Rate

(Net)^ Early Buyout Option Purchase Option

Chemical Tanker

FSL New York N.A. - Vessel is employed in the 'Nordic Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool'

FSL London N.A. - Vessel is employed in the 'Nordic Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool'

FSL Tokyo N.A. - Vessel is employed in the 'Nordic Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool'

Containership

Cape Ferro Schoeller Holdings 5 Jul 2005 9 EUR6,422 - Nil Yr 9 : EUR 6.175m

Cape Falcon Schoeller Holdings 5 Jul 2005 9 EUR6,422 - Nil Yr 9 : EUR 6.175m

Ever Radiant Evergreen Marine 24 Jan 2006 10 + 3 US$16,021 US$10,946 Nil Yr 10 : US$15.0m or Yr 13 : US$7.5m

Ever Respect Evergreen Marine 24 Jan 2006 10 + 3 US$16,021 US$10,946 Nil Yr 10 : US$15.0m or Yr 13 : US$7.5m

YM Eminence Yang Ming Marine 20 May 2008 12 US$18,315 - Nil Yr 12 : US$30.0m

YM Elixir Yang Ming Marine 16 Jun 2008 12 US$18,315 - Nil Yr 12 : US$30.0m

YM Enhancer Yang Ming Marine 9 Oct 2008 12 US$18,315 - Nil Yr 12 : US$30.0m

Crude Oil Tanker

FSL Hong Kong N.A. - Vessel is employed on a revenue sharing agreement

FSL Shanghai N.A. - Vessel is employed on a short-term variable-rate time charter

Dry Bulk Carrier

Stella Fomalhaut N.A. - Sold as of 18 March 2014

FSL Durban N.A. - Sold as of 18 March 2014

1   A commission of 0.5% on the bareboat charter rate is paid to an external broker for Ever Radiant and Ever Respect while a commission of 
1% on the bareboat charter rate is paid for YM Eminence, YM Elixir and YM Enhancer. The daily bareboat charter rate and the lease extension 
charter rate shown in the above table are net of commission.

LEASE PORTFOLIO TERMS
As At 15 March 2014
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LEASE PORTFOLIO TERMS
As At 15 March 2014

Vessel Lessee
Lease 

Commencement
Lease Term +

Extension, if any (yrs)

Daily Bareboat 
Charter Rate 

(Net)1

Lease Extension 
Charter Rate

(Net)^ Early Buyout Option Purchase Option

Chemical Tanker

FSL New York N.A. - Vessel is employed in the 'Nordic Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool'

FSL London N.A. - Vessel is employed in the 'Nordic Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool'

FSL Tokyo N.A. - Vessel is employed in the 'Nordic Tankers 19,000 Stainless Steel Pool'

Containership

Cape Ferro Schoeller Holdings 5 Jul 2005 9 EUR6,422 - Nil Yr 9 : EUR 6.175m

Cape Falcon Schoeller Holdings 5 Jul 2005 9 EUR6,422 - Nil Yr 9 : EUR 6.175m

Ever Radiant Evergreen Marine 24 Jan 2006 10 + 3 US$16,021 US$10,946 Nil Yr 10 : US$15.0m or Yr 13 : US$7.5m

Ever Respect Evergreen Marine 24 Jan 2006 10 + 3 US$16,021 US$10,946 Nil Yr 10 : US$15.0m or Yr 13 : US$7.5m

YM Eminence Yang Ming Marine 20 May 2008 12 US$18,315 - Nil Yr 12 : US$30.0m

YM Elixir Yang Ming Marine 16 Jun 2008 12 US$18,315 - Nil Yr 12 : US$30.0m

YM Enhancer Yang Ming Marine 9 Oct 2008 12 US$18,315 - Nil Yr 12 : US$30.0m

Crude Oil Tanker

FSL Hong Kong N.A. - Vessel is employed on a revenue sharing agreement

FSL Shanghai N.A. - Vessel is employed on a short-term variable-rate time charter

Dry Bulk Carrier

Stella Fomalhaut N.A. - Sold as of 18 March 2014

FSL Durban N.A. - Sold as of 18 March 2014

1   A commission of 0.5% on the bareboat charter rate is paid to an external broker for Ever Radiant and Ever Respect while a commission of 
1% on the bareboat charter rate is paid for YM Eminence, YM Elixir and YM Enhancer. The daily bareboat charter rate and the lease extension 
charter rate shown in the above table are net of commission.
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Vessel Lessee
Lease 

Commencement
Lease Term +

Extension, if any (yrs)

Daily Bareboat 
Charter Rate 

(Net)1

Lease Extension 
Charter Rate

(Net)^ Early Buyout Option Purchase Option

Product Tanker

Cumbrian Fisher James Fisher 23 Dec 2004 10 + 5 US$ 5,277 Note 1 Yr 6.5 : Higher of 
US$12.4m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of US$10.375m and FMV

Clyde Fisher James Fisher 4 Feb 2005 10 + 5 US$ 5,318 Note 1 Yr 6.5 : Higher of 
US$12.4m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of US$10.375m and FMV

Shannon Fisher James Fisher 1 Feb 2006 10 + 5 EUR 3,240a Note 2 Yr 6.5 : Higher of EUR 
7.54m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of EUR4.23m and FMV

Solway Fisher James Fisher 30 Jun 2006 10 + 5 EUR 3,233 Note 2 Yr 6.5 : Higher of EUR 
7.62m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of EUR4.23m and FMV

Speciality James Fisher 1 Jun 2007 10 + 5 + 5 US$
US$

4,100/
4,500b

Note 3 Nil Yr 10: US$8.0m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$8.0m
Yr 15: US$4.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$4.5m
Yr 20: US$2.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$2.5m

Seniority James Fisher 1 Jun 2007 10 + 5 + 5 US$
US$

4,100/
4,500b 

Note 3 Nil Yr 10: US$8.0m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$8.0m
Yr 15: US$4.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$4.5m
Yr 20: US$2.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$2.5m

Superiority James Fisher 1 Jun 2007 10 + 5 + 5 US$
US$

 4,100/
4,500b

Note 3 Nil Yr 10: US$8.0m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$8.0m
Yr 15: US$4.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$4.5m
Yr 20: US$2.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$2.5m

FSL Hamburg Petrobras 23 Aug 2012 3 –c – – –

FSL Singapore Petrobras 16 May 2012 3 –c – – –

TORM Margrethe TORM 16 Jun 2011 7 –d –d –d –d

TORM Marie TORM 24 Jun 2011 7 –d –d –d –d

1 A commission of 0.5% on the bareboat charter rate is paid to an external broker for Ever Radiant and Ever Respect while a 
commission of 1% on the bareboat charter rate is paid for YM	Eminence, YM	Elixir and YM	Enhancer. The daily bareboat charter 
rate and the lease extension charter rate shown in the above table are net of commission. 

a The daily bareboat charter rate shown has been fixed for 3 years to Jan 2014. The charter rate for the remaining 2 years will 
be reset on an annual basis or such other interest period in excess of one year at the choice of the lessee, based on the then 
prevailing interest swap rate and currency exchange rates. 

b From years 1 to 5, the daily bareboat charter rate of US$4,100 was applied; from years 6 to 10, the daily bareboat charter rate 
is US$4,500. 

c FSL	Hamburg and FSL	Singapore are leased on 3-year time charters to Petrobras at a gross daily charter rate of US$14,000. 

d Upon completion of the TORM restructuring in November 2012, the bareboat charter agreements are permanently amended 
such that (i) the bareboat charter rates are variable rates that TORM achieves in the market and (ii) the early buyout, purchase 
and lease extension options are all cancelled. 

LEASE PORTFOLIO TERMS
As At 15 March 2014
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Vessel Lessee
Lease 

Commencement
Lease Term +

Extension, if any (yrs)

Daily Bareboat 
Charter Rate 

(Net)1

Lease Extension 
Charter Rate

(Net)^ Early Buyout Option Purchase Option

Product Tanker

Cumbrian Fisher James Fisher 23 Dec 2004 10 + 5 US$ 5,277 Note 1 Yr 6.5 : Higher of 
US$12.4m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of US$10.375m and FMV

Clyde Fisher James Fisher 4 Feb 2005 10 + 5 US$ 5,318 Note 1 Yr 6.5 : Higher of 
US$12.4m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of US$10.375m and FMV

Shannon Fisher James Fisher 1 Feb 2006 10 + 5 EUR 3,240a Note 2 Yr 6.5 : Higher of EUR 
7.54m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of EUR4.23m and FMV

Solway Fisher James Fisher 30 Jun 2006 10 + 5 EUR 3,233 Note 2 Yr 6.5 : Higher of EUR 
7.62m and FMV

Yr 10 : Higher of EUR4.23m and FMV

Speciality James Fisher 1 Jun 2007 10 + 5 + 5 US$
US$

4,100/
4,500b

Note 3 Nil Yr 10: US$8.0m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$8.0m
Yr 15: US$4.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$4.5m
Yr 20: US$2.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$2.5m

Seniority James Fisher 1 Jun 2007 10 + 5 + 5 US$
US$

4,100/
4,500b 

Note 3 Nil Yr 10: US$8.0m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$8.0m
Yr 15: US$4.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$4.5m
Yr 20: US$2.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$2.5m

Superiority James Fisher 1 Jun 2007 10 + 5 + 5 US$
US$

 4,100/
4,500b

Note 3 Nil Yr 10: US$8.0m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$8.0m
Yr 15: US$4.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$4.5m
Yr 20: US$2.5m + 50% of any excess of FMV over US$2.5m

FSL Hamburg Petrobras 23 Aug 2012 3 –c – – –

FSL Singapore Petrobras 16 May 2012 3 –c – – –

TORM Margrethe TORM 16 Jun 2011 7 –d –d –d –d

TORM Marie TORM 24 Jun 2011 7 –d –d –d –d

LEASE PORTFOLIO TERMS
As At 15 March 2014

Note 1 To be adjusted based on then prevailing 5-year US$ interest swap rate. For illustrative purpose, if the 5-year US$ interest 
swap rate is 4.73% at the time of fixing for the extension period, the resulting daily charter rate will increase to US$5,300. If 
the 5-year US$ interest swap rate is 2.73% at the time of fixing for the extension period, the resulting daily charter rate will 
decrease to US$5,043. These amounts will be adjusted pro rata depending on the actual achieved swapped interest rate.

Note 2 To be adjusted based on then prevailing amortising EUR interest swap rate and the spot and forward US$/EUR currency 
exchange rates. For illustrative purpose, on the basis of an amortising Euro interest swap rate of 4.45% at the time of 
fixing for the extension period and assuming that the currency exchange rates remains constant, the resulting daily charter 
rate will be EUR 2,660. If the amortising Euro interest swap rate increases to 5.45% at the time of fixing for the extension 
period and the currency exchange rates remains constant, the resulting daily charter rate will increase to EUR 2,717, and 
in case the amortising Euro interest swap rate decreases to 3.45% at the time of fixing for the extension period and the 
currency exchange rates remains constant, the resulting daily charter rate will decrease to EUR 2,610. The amounts will 
be adjusted pro rata depending on the actual achieved swapped interest and currency exchange rates.

Note 3 There are two 5-year extension periods. If exercised, the daily bareboat charter rate will be US$3,600 for the 1st extension 
period (year 11 to 15) and US$2,400 for the 2nd extension period (year 16 to 20). The lessee also has an early charter 
extension option at the expiry of the 5th year to prematurely extend the base lease period (10 years) by a further 5 years. 
If this is exercised, the daily bareboat charter rate from year 6 to 10 will be revised to US$4,175 (from US$4,500) and the 
daily lease extension charter rate from year 11 to 15 will be US$4,250 (instead of US$3,600).
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Interested Person Transactions 

The transactions entered into with interested persons during the financial year ended 31 December 2013 which fall under the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Business Trusts Act, Chapter 31A of Singapore are:

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested person transactions 
during the financial period under review (excluding 

transactions less than S$100,000 (equivalent to 
approximately US$79,177^)) 

Columbia Shipmanagement Ltd+/ Columbia 
Shipmanagement (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.+ 
– services rendered

United Product Tankers GmbH & Co. KG+ 
– services rendered

US$850,000 

US$139,000

Notes:

^ Based on prevailing exchange rate as at 31 December 2013.

+ Columbia Shipmanagement Ltd, Columbia Shipmanagement (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and United Product Tankers GmbH & Co. KG are associates 
of Schoeller Holdings Ltd, who is deemed interested in the units held by FSL Holdings Pte. Ltd., the controlling unitholder of FSL Trust.

The above does not include the following on-going interested person transactions:

(a)  the fees and charges payable by FSL Trust to FSLTM under the deed of trust dated 19 March 2007 as amended and 
supplemented from time to time; and

(b)  the lease rentals, fees and charges receivable by FSL Trust under the lease agreements dated 5 July 2005 with Schoeller 
Holdings Ltd in respect of containerships Cape Ferro and Cape Falcon,

which are deemed to be specifically approved by the unitholders upon subscription for the units at the initial public offering and 
which are not subject to Rules 905 and 906 of the Listing Manual to the extent that there is no subsequent change to the rates 
and/or bases of the fees, rentals and charges charged there under which will adversely affect FSL Trust.  

Except as disclosed above, there were no additional interested person transactions (excluding transactions less than S$100,000 
(US$79,177) equivalent) entered into up to and including 31 December 2013.

FSL Trust does not have any unitholders’ mandate for interested person transactions.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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No. of units issued : 654,665,077
Class of units : Ordinary units with 1 vote per unit

DISTRIBUTION OF UNITHOLDINGS

Size of Unitholdings Number of Unitholders % Number of Units %

1 - 999 47 0.74 20,218 0.00
1,000 - 10,000 3,077 48.39 14,486,390 2.21
10,001 - 1,000,000 3,184 50.07 251,218,729 38.38
1,000,001 and above 51 0.80 388,939,740 59.41

6,359 100.00 654,665,077 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST UNITHOLDERS

No. Name of Unitholders Number of Units %

1. FSL HOLDINGS PTE. LTD.       154,430,600 23.59
2. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 31,983,500 4.89
3. CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 21,315,000 3.26
4. MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 17,157,300 2.62
5. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 13,786,300 2.11
6. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 13,553,800 2.07
7. TOH CHENG HOCK KENNETH        12,000,000 1.83
8. BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE. LTD. 10,801,000 1.65
9. DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 9,836,590 1.50
10. LAI CHONG MENG                8,000,000 1.22
11. RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 7,989,700 1.22
12. YIM WING CHEONG               7,741,000 1.18
13. UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 6,913,400 1.06
14. DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 5,002,050 0.76
15. KANG BUAY GECK                4,863,000 0.74
16. FSL TRUST MANAGEMENT PTE LTD  3,422,100 0.52
17. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 3,088,100 0.47
18. ONG EUGENE                    3,000,000 0.46
19. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 2,807,800 0.43
20. NAGARAJ SIVARAM               2,732,000 0.42

TOTAL 340,423,240 52.00

STATISTICS OF UNITHOLDINGS
As At 13 March 2014
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SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS
(As shown in the Register of Substantial Unitholders)

Name of Substantial Unitholder Direct Interests % Deemed Interests %

FSL Holdings Pte Ltd1 154,430,600 23.59 3,422,100 0.52
Schoeller Investments Limited2 - - 157,852,700 24.11
Mr Heinrich-Leopold Felix Schoeller3 - - 160,712,700 24.55

Notes:

1. FSL Holdings Pte Ltd is deemed to be interested in 3,422,100 units held by FSL Trust Management Pte Ltd.

2. Schoeller Investments Limited is the beneficial holder of 41.25% of the issued share capital of FSL Holdings Pte Ltd. Accordingly Schoeller Investments Limited 
is deemed to be interested in all the units in which FSL Holdings Pte Ltd has an interest.

3. Mr Heinrich-Leopold Felix Schoeller is the ultimate shareholder of Schoeller Investments Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the units in which 
FSL Holdings Pte Ltd has an interest. In addition, Mr Heinrich-Leopold Felix Schoeller also has an interest in 2,860,000 units held through a nominee.

FREE FLOAT

Based on information available as at 13 March 2014, approximately 75.45% of the units of First Ship Lease Trust is in the hands 
of the public and accordingly Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited has been 
complied with.

STATISTICS OF UNITHOLDINGS
As At 13 March 2014
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Seventh Annual General Meeting of First Ship Lease Trust will be held at Pan Pacific 
Singapore, Pacific Ballroom 1, Level One, 7 Raffles Boulevard, Marina Square, Singapore 039595 on Wednesday, 30 April 2014 
at 2.30 p.m. for the purpose of transacting the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESSES

1. To receive and adopt the Report of the Trustee-Manager, Statement by the Trustee-Manager and Audited Financial 
Statements of First Ship Lease Trust for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, together with the Auditor’s Report 
thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as the Auditors of First Ship Lease Trust and to authorise the Directors of the Trustee-Manager 
to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 2)

3. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an annual general meeting of the Unitholders.

SPECIAL BUSINESSES

4. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with or without modifications as an Ordinary Resolution:

THAT:

pursuant to Section 36 of the Business Trusts Act, Chapter 31A of Singapore (the “Business Trusts Act”) and Clause 
6.1 of the deed of trust of First Ship Lease Trust (the “Trust Deed”), the Trustee-Manager, on behalf of First Ship Lease 
Trust, be authorised and empowered to:

(a) (i) issue units in First Ship Lease Trust (“Units”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or 

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that would or might require 
Units to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 
warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Units, 

at any time to such persons and on such terms and conditions whether for cash or otherwise as the Trustee-
Manager shall in its absolute discretion deem fit; and 

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Units in 
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Trustee-Manager while this Resolution was in force, 

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Units to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Units to be issued in 
pursuance of the Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 50 per cent. of the 
issued Units in First Ship Lease Trust (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the 
aggregate number of Units to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing Unitholders of First Ship Lease 
Trust shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the issued Units in First Ship Lease Trust (as calculated in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-
ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Units that may be issued under sub-paragraph 
(1) above, the percentage of issued Units shall be based on the number of issued Units in First Ship Lease Trust 
at the time of the passing of this Resolution after adjusting for: 

(a) any new Units arising from the conversion or exercise of any Instruments that are convertible into 
Units; and 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE 
UNITHOLDERS 
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(b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Units; 

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Trustee-Manager shall comply with the provisions of 
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the 
SGX-ST), the Trust Deed and the Business Trusts Act; and 

(4) unless revoked or varied by ordinary resolution of Unitholders of First Ship Lease Trust in a general meeting, 
such authority shall continue in force (i) until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Unitholders 
of First Ship Lease Trust or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Unitholders of First 
Ship Lease Trust is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier; or (ii) in the case of Units to be issued in 
pursuance of the Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such Units in 
accordance with the terms of the Instruments.
                                               (Resolution 3)

5. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with or without modifications as an Ordinary Resolution:

THAT:

authority be and is hereby given to the Trustee-Manager to allot and issue from time to time such number of Units as may 
be required to be allotted and issued pursuant to the First Ship Lease Trust Distribution Reinvestment Scheme.

 (Resolution 4)

6. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution with or without modifications as an Ordinary Resolution:

THAT:

(a)  the exercise by the Trustee-Manager of all the powers of First Ship Lease Trust to purchase or otherwise acquire 
Units of First Ship Lease Trust not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at such 
price or prices as may be determined by the Trustee-Manager from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as 
hereafter defined), whether by way of: 

(i)  market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the SGX-ST; and/or

(ii)  off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST in 
accordance with any equal access scheme (as defined in the Trust Deed) as may be determined or 
formulated by the Trustee-Manager as it considers fit, which scheme shall satisfy all the conditions 
prescribed in accordance with the Trust Deed,

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being 
be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Unit Buy-back 
Mandate”);

(b) unless varied or revoked by Unitholders of First Ship Lease Trust in a general meeting, the authority conferred 
on the Trustee-Manager pursuant to the Unit Buy-back Mandate may be exercised by the Trustee-Manager at 
any time during the Relevant Period (as hereafter defined); and

(c)  the Trustee-Manager be and is hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things (including 
executing such documents or other action as may be required) as it may consider necessary, expedient or in 
the interests of First Ship Lease Trust to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this 
Resolution.
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In this Resolution:

“Maximum Limit” means the number of Units representing not more than 10 per cent. of the total number of issued 
Units of First Ship Lease Trust as at the date of the passing of this Resolution; and

“Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the annual general meeting is held and this 
Resolution is passed, and expiring on:

(a) the date on which the next annual general meeting of Unitholders is held; 

(b) the date by which the next annual general meeting of Unitholders is required by law or the Trust Deed to be held; 
or

(c) the date on which the purchases of Units by the Trustee-Manager pursuant to the Unit Buy-back Mandate are 
carried out to the full extent mandated,

whichever is earliest; and

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Unit to be purchased, means an amount (excluding related expenses of the purchase) 
not exceeding:

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase: 105 per cent. of the Average Closing Market Price 

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 120 per cent. of the Highest Last Dealt Price

where:

“Average Closing Market Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Unit over the last five (5) market 
days, on which transactions in Units were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, and deemed to be 
adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after such five-day market period in accordance with Rule 884 of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST;

“Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Unit as recorded on the market day on which there 
were trades in the Units immediately preceding the day of the making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase; 
and

“day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Trustee-Manager announces its intention to make an 
offer for the purchase of Units from Unitholders, stating the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum 
Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Unit and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting 
the Off-Market Purchase.

 (Resolution 5)

By Order of the Board of FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd.
As Trustee-Manager of First Ship Lease Trust

Elizabeth Krishnan
Company Secretary

Singapore
11 April 2014
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Notes:

1. A Unitholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Unitholders of First Ship Lease Trust may 
appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a Unitholder of First Ship Lease Trust.

2. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. at 9 
Temasek Boulevard #19-03 Suntec Tower Two Singapore 038989 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the 
Annual General Meeting.

Explanatory Notes on Resolution 3 

If passed, the Ordinary Resolution set out in Resolution 3 empowers the Trustee-Manager from the date of the Seventh Annual 
General Meeting until the date of the subsequent Annual General Meeting, the date by which the subsequent Annual General 
Meeting is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by First Ship Lease Trust in a general meeting of the 
Unitholders, whichever is the earlier, to issue Units, make or grant Instruments convertible into Units and to issue Units pursuant 
to such Instruments in First Ship Lease Trust up to a number not exceeding in aggregate 50 per cent. of the issued Units in 
First Ship Lease Trust, of which not more than 20 per cent. may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to Unitholders. For the 
purpose of determining the aggregate number of Units that may be issued, the percentage of Units will be calculated based on 
the number of issued Units when Resolution 3 is passed, after adjusting for any new Units arising from the conversion or exercise 
of any Instruments that are convertible into Units, as well as any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Units.

Explanatory Notes on Resolution 4

Resolution 4 is a renewal of the resolution that was approved by Unitholders at the Sixth Annual General Meeting held on 8 April 
2013. 

If passed, the Ordinary Resolution set out in Resolution 4 authorises the Trustee-Manager to issue Units pursuant to the First Ship 
Lease Trust Distribution Reinvestment Scheme, which was adopted by resolution of the Unitholders at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting held on 9 October 2008, to Unitholders who, in respect of a qualifying distribution, have elected to receive Units in lieu of 
the cash amount of that qualifying distribution.

Explanatory Notes on Resolution 5

Resolution 5 is a renewal of the Unit Buy-back Mandate that was approved by Unitholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 14 April 2010. Please refer to the Appendix to this Notice of Annual General Meeting for details. 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE 
UNITHOLDERS 
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FIRST SHIP LEASE TRUST
(A business trust constituted on 19 March 2007)

FSL TRUST MANAGEMENT PTE. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration No. 200702265R
(as Trustee-Manager of First Ship Lease Trust)

PROXY FORM
SEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS OF FIRST SHIP LEASE TRUST

I/We ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Name)

holder of NRIC/Passport Number or Company registration or UEN Number _____________________ of ______________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

being a Unitholder / Unitholders of First Ship Lease Trust hereby appoint:

Name Proportion of Unitholdings

NRIC/Passport Number No. of Units %

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Proportion of Unitholdings

NRIC/Passport Number No. of Units %

Address

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Seventh Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of 
Unitholders of First Ship Lease Trust to be held on Wednesday, 30 April 2014 and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our 
proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as 
to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion, as he/she will on any other matter arising 
at the AGM. 

(*If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick ( √ ) within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the 
number of votes as appropriate.)

No. Resolutions relating to:
No. of votes 

‘For’*
No. of votes 

‘Against’*
1. Adoption of the Report of the Trustee-Manager, Statement by the Trustee-Manager 

and Audited Financial Statements of First Ship Lease Trust for the financial year ended 
31 December 2013 together with the Auditor’s Report thereon

2. Re-appointment of KPMG LLP as Auditors of First Ship Lease Trust and authority of 
Directors of Trustee-Manager to fix their remuneration

3. Authority to issue new Units

4. Authority to issue new Units pursuant to the First Ship Lease Trust Distribution 
Reinvestment Scheme

5. Authority to purchase Units pursuant to the Unit Buy-back Mandate

Dated this______________ day of ___________________ 2014

____________________________________
Signature of Individual Unitholder(s) or
Common Seal of Corporate Unitholder

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Total No. of Units in: No. of Units

(a)  CDP Register



NOTES:

1. A Unitholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of Unitholders (“AGM”) of First Ship Lease Trust (“FSL 
Trust”) is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a Unitholder of FSL Trust.

2. Where a Unitholder appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of 
his/her holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3. Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a Unitholder from attending and voting at the 
AGM. Any proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a Unitholder attends the AGM in person, and in such event, 
FSL Trust Management Pte. Ltd. (“FSLTM”) reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the 
instrument of proxy, to the AGM.

4. A Unitholder should insert the total number of Units held. If the Unitholder has Units entered against his/her name in the 
Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), he should insert that 
number of Units. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the Units held by the Unitholder.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of FSLTM at 9 Temasek Boulevard 
#19-03 Suntec Tower Two Singapore 038989 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the AGM.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its 
common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7. A corporation incorporated in Singapore which is a Unitholder may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing 
body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore. 

8. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney or duly authorised officer, the 
letter or power of attorney or board resolution duly authorising the officer or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous 
registration with FSLTM) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

9. FSLTM shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies which is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified 
on the instrument. In addition, in the case of Units entered in the Depository Register, FSLTM may reject the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies if the Unitholder, being the appointor, is not shown to have Units entered against his name in 
the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM, as certified by The Central Depository 
(Pte) Limited (“Depository”) to FSLTM.

10. For the purposes of determining the number of Units held in respect of Units registered in the name of the Depository and the 
number of votes which a particular Unitholder may cast in respect of such Units, FSLTM shall be entitled and bound to accept 
as accurate the number of Units credited in the securities account(s) of the relevant depositor as shown in the records of the 
Depository as at a time not earlier than 48 hours prior to the time of the relevant meeting supplied by the Depository to FSLTM, 
and accept as the maximum number of votes which in aggregate that depositor and his proxy(ies) (if any) are able to cast on 
a poll a number which is the number of Units credited into the securities account(s) of the relevant depositor, as shown in the 
aforementioned records of the Depository, whether that number is greater or smaller than that specified by the depositor in 
the instrument of proxy. FSLTM shall not, under any circumstances, be responsible for, or liable to any person as a result of it, 
acting upon or relying on the aforementioned records of the Depository. 

Please affix 
postage 
stamp

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
FSL TRUST MANAGEMENT PTE. LTD.
(as Trustee-Manager of First Ship Lease Trust)

9 Temasek Boulevard #19-03
Suntec Tower Two
Singapore 038989
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FSL TRUST MANAGEMENT PTE. LTD. 
as Trustee-Manager for First Ship Lease Trust 

(Co. Reg. No.: 200702265R)
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Phone: +65 6836 3000  
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